
Wednesday, 
1 March 2017

10.00 am

Meeting of
Performance and 

Overview Committee
Fire Service HQ

Winsford
Contact Officer:
Joanne Smith

Democratic Services

Fire Service Headquarters, Sadler Road, Winsford, Cheshire, CW7 2FQ

Tel: 01606 868804
E-mail: joanne.smith@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Cheshire Fire Authority
Notes for Members of the Public

____________________________________________________________________________
Attendance at Meetings
The Cheshire Fire Authority welcomes and encourages members of the public to be at its 
meetings and Committees.You are requested to remain quiet whilst the meeting is taking place 
and to enter and leave the meeting room as quickly and quietly as possible.

All meetings of the Authority are held at Fire Service Headquarters in Winsford.  If you plan to 
attend please report first to the Reception Desk where you will be asked to sign in and will be 
given a visitors pass.  You should return your pass to the Reception Desk when you leave the 
building. There are some car parking spaces available on site for visitors at the front of the 
Headquarters Building.  Please do not park in spaces reserved for Fire Service personnel.

If you feel there might be particular problems with access to the building or car parking please 
contact the Reception Desk at Fire Service Headquarters on Winsford (01606) 868700.
___________________________________________________________________
Questions by Electors
An elector in the Fire Service area can ask the Chair of the Authority a question if it is sent to 
the Monitoring Officer at Fire Service HQ to arrive at least five clear working days before the 
meeting.  The contact officer named on the front of the Agenda will be happy to advise you on 
this procedure.

Access to Information
Copies of the Agenda will be available at the meeting.  A copy can also be obtained from the 
contact officer named on the front of the Agenda. Alternatively, individual reports are available 
on the Authority’s website (www.cheshirefire.gov.uk)

The Agenda is usually divided into two parts. Members of the public are allowed to stay for the 
first part.  When the Authority is ready to deal with the second part you will be asked to leave 
the meeting room, because the business to be discussed will be of a confidential nature, for 
example, dealing with individual people and contracts.

This agenda is available in large print, Braille, audio CD or in community languages upon 
request by contacting; Telephone: 01606868414 or email: equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk

Recording of Meetings
Anyone attending the meeting should be aware the Authority audio-records its meetings.  There 
is a protocol on reporting at meetings which provides further information.  Copies are available 
on the Service’s website www.cheshirefire.gov.uk or alternatively contact Democratic Services 
for details

Fire Evacuation
If the Fire Alarm sounds you should make you way to the nearest exit as quickly as possible and 
leave the building.  Please follow any instructions from staff about evacuation routes.

mailto:equalities@cheshirefire.gov.uk
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/


MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY, 1 MARCH 2017
Time : 10.00 am
Lecture Theatre - Fire Service Headquarters, Winsford, Cheshire

AGENDA

PART 1 - Business to be discussed 

1 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

1A Record of Meeting 
Members are reminded that this meeting will be audio-recorded.

1B Apologies for Absence 

1C Declaration of Members' Interests 
Members are reminded that the Members’ Code of Conduct 
requires the disclosure of Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, 
Non-Statutory Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Disclosable Non-
Pecuniary Interests.

1D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Performance and Overview Committee held on 16 November 2016.

(Pages 1 - 6)

1E Minutes of Policy Committee 
The meeting of the Policy Committee scheduled for 25 January 
2017 was cancelled.

ITEMS REQUIRING DISCUSSION/DECISION 

2 2016-17 Quarter 3 Review - Financial (Pages 7 - 18)

3 2016-17 Quarter 3 Review - Performance (Pages 19 - 38)

4 2016-17 Quarter 3 Review - Integrated Risk Management Plan 
Programmes and Projects 

(Pages 39 - 58)

5 2016-17 Quarter 3 Internal Audit Progress Report (Pages 59 - 74)

6 Annual Bonfire Period Report 2016 (Pages 75 - 94)

7 Forward Work Programme 
The table includes those items that have been identified/agreed to-
date.  Members are asked to agree any additional items at the end 
of the meeting which need to be added to the programme.

(Pages 95 - 96)



PART 2 - BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED IN PRIVATE 



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
held on Wednesday, 16 November 2016 at Lecture Theatre - Fire Service 
Headquarters, Winsford, Cheshire at 10.00 am

PRESENT: Councillors P Harris, J Mercer, D Bailey, M Simon, D Marren and independent 
(non-elected) member A Ruddy.

1 PROCEDURAL MATTERS 

A Recording of Meeting 

Members were reminded that the meeting would be audio-recorded.

B Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Councillors H Deynem, L Morgan, and J Saunders.  

C Declaration of Members' Interests 

There were no declarations of Members’ interests. 

D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the minutes of the meeting of the Performance and Overview Committee 
held on Wednesday 24 August 2016 be confirmed as a correct record.

E Minutes of Policy Committee 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the minutes of the Meeting of the Policy Committee held on Wednesday 
22 June 2016 were received, for information.

2 2016-17 Q2 (MID YEAR) REVIEW - FINANCE 

The Head of Finance introduced the report which provided Members with a 
summary of the Service’s financial position for the second quarter of 2016-17. 

He drew Members’ attention to Appendix 1 of the report which contained information 
on the estimated revenue outturn of the Authority compared to the budget as revised 
after the August meeting of the Performance and Overview Committee.  He 
expanded on the reasons for the variances which had led to the anticipated 
underspend at mid year of £192k.

The Head of Finance then referred Members to Appendix 2 of the report which 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1D



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 16 November 2016

showed the expected outturn on the capital programme.  He explained that there 
was a projected overspend expected on the Emergency Response Programme of 
£343k and expanded on the reasons for this overspend.  He informed Members that 
the overall overspend remained well within the contingency agreed when the 
Authority approved the final capital expenditure for the programme. 

A Member queried how the underspend would be used by the Service.  The Head of 
Finance informed the Committee that any proposals would go to Members for their 
consideration and that, in previous years, it has been used to fund IRMP projects.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the 2016-17 Q2 (Mid Year) Finance review and the anticipated financial 
outturn presented in the report be noted.

3 2016-17 Q2 (MID YEAR) REVIEW - PERFORMANCE 

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive introduced the report to Members which 
provided a mid year review of performance for each of the key performance 
indicators (KPIs) and a progress update on the delivery of IRMP programmes and 
projects.

He referred Members to Appendix 1 of the report which contained the IRMP Health 
Report. He provided Members with an update on programmes and projects which 
were currently slightly delayed (reflected in the amber status on the Health report), 
including IT delays at Powey Lane and Penketh, on call recruitment at Crewe and 
Ellesmere Port and the expansion of the Safe and Well visits. He also updated 
Members on the Blue Light Collaboration Programme and the Emergency Response 
Programme (ERP2). 

A Member queried whether on call recruitment was an ongoing issue at Crewe Fire 
Station. The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive informed Members that if the 
required number of on call firefighters were not recruited the project would be 
brought back to Members for further consideration. 

Members also queried the reasons for the IT delays at Powey Lane and Penketh. 
The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive informed Members that delays to the 
installation of optical fibre had caused slippage in the project timelines which was 
reflected in the amber project status for both of these new stations.  He also 
explained that testing was ongoing and Officers were doing all they could to ensure 
that the IT issues were resolved before the stations became operational.

The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive referred Members to Appendix 2 which 
contained the Corporate Performance Scorecard and explained that this reflected 
the Quarter 2 position against targets set at the start of the year for the 
organisation’s Key Performance Indicators. He expanded on the work that had been 
undertaken by the Service in response to targets that were not met.

A Member queried the relatively high percentage of deaths in primary fires and 
accidental dwelling fires amongst over 65s and asked what methods were in place 

Page 2



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 16 November 2016

for the Service to address this. The Deputy Chief Fire Officer informed the 
Committee of the investigative process that occurred after these incidents and the 
preventative measures that the Service employed to reduce the risk to this age 
group.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the 2016-17 Q2 (Mid Year) Performance Review be noted.

4 2016-17 Q2 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS AND FOLLOW UP REPORTS 

The Head of Finance introduced Michael Nulty, an Internal Auditor form Mersey 
Internal Audit Agency (MIAA), who was in attendance at the meeting and would be 
presenting the reports to the Committee. 

The Auditor advised Members that the Internal Audit Progress Report and Internal 
Audit Follow Up Report, prepared by the MIAA, provided an update on the progress 
made in respect of the 2016-17 internal audit plan.

The Internal Audit Progress Report included key areas identified, actions to be 
delivered by managers and an update on assurance levels, which indicated that 
overall the findings from the report were very positive with most areas receiving 
significant assurance.

The Auditor informed Members that the Internal Audit Follow Up Report provided an 
update on outstanding actions and independent assurance that actions flagged as 
closed by responsible officers had been completed and evidenced as such.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the 2016-17 Q2 Internal Audit Progress Report and Internal Audit Follow 
Up Report be noted.

5 AGE UK PARTNERSHIP 

The Head of Prevention introduced the report to Members which provided an update 
on the Service’s current partnership arrangements with Age UK and emerging 
partnerships with other third sector organisations. 

He informed Members that the ability to analyse the benefit of the partnership 
between Age UK and the Service had presented challenges due to data protection 
issues, a lack of adequate electronic data capture and increased demand on Age 
UK’s capacity.

The Head of Prevention advised Members of emerging partnerships with alternative 
organisations, such as the British Red Cross, and their potential to offer home visits 
to some individuals and also have systems in place to provide evidence as to the 
value of the work carried out.

Members were also informed that funding currently provided to Age UK Cheshire for 

Page 3



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 16 November 2016

the Dementia Advocate service would be reallocated to support a dedicated 
Dementia Advocate position within the Service’s Prevention team to aid the delivery 
of Safe and Well visits.

A Member queried whether developments on this project would be brought back to 
Members for further consideration. The Chief Fire Officer and Chief Executive 
commented that the Head of Prevention could engage with the relevant Member 
Champion and feedback to all Members as necessary.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Age UK Partnership report be noted.

6 ANNUAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELLBEING REPORT 2015-16 

The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager introduced the Annual Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing Report 2015-16. He informed Members that the report provided the 
Authority with information about the management of health and safety in the Service. 
He highlighted to Members the key achievements of the Service throughout 2015-16 
and informed Members that the Service was performing well nationally.

A Member queried whether there were incentives in place to maintain a low 
percentage of sickness in the Service.  The Deputy Chief Fire Officer informed the 
Committee that continual professional development (CPD) rewards of £1k for 
operational staff and the work of the occupational health unit (OHU) and HR had 
helped to maintain low sickness levels throughout the Service.

A Member requested further information concerning the statistics presented on 
violence and aggression towards staff and how many of the incidents were linked to 
the Prince’s Trust Programme. The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager informed 
the Members that he would provide them with a further breakdown of the statistics. 
The Deputy Chief Fire Officer advised Members that violence towards the Service’s 
staff was extremely rare and that follow up mechanisms were in place via the police.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Annual Health, Safety and Wellbeing Report 2015-16 be noted.

7 ANNUAL ROAD SAFETY REPORT 2015-16 

The Arson Reduction and Road Safety Manager introduced the report to Members 
which attached the Authority’s Annual Road Safety Report 2015-16, containing 
details of the interventions delivered by the Service.  A Member queried how the 
Service recorded the number of faults found in tyre checks as part of the TyreSafe 
winter driving events and requested that these statistics be provided in future 
reports.

Members congratulated the Prevention team on the comprehensive report which 
highlighted the team’s work on road safety and their successful public engagement. 

Page 4



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 16 November 2016

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Annual Road Safety Report 2015-16 be noted.

8 INTERIM BONFIRE UPDATE 

The Arson Reduction and Road Safety Manager provided Members with an interim 
update on the preventative and operational activities of the Service during the 
bonfire period.  He confirmed that a full report would be presented to the Committee 
at its next meeting in March 2017.

He reported that there had been a significant increase in the number of fires 
attended by the Service over the period, with 31 out of the 105 incidents attended 
occurring in Winsford.  The Arson Reduction and Road Safety Manger summarised 
the prevention work carried out by the Service in partnership with the police, with 
particular reference to work occurring in Winsford in response to the increase in 
incidents.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the interim bonfire update be noted.

9 PROSECUTIONS UPDATE 

The Protection Office Station Manager presented the report which provided an 
update on the Authority’s audit activity and prosecutions under the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (the Order).  

He referred Members to the report which detailed the number of ways in which a fire 
safety inspector may become aware of unsatisfactory business premises and the 
range of enforcement options available to the inspectors.  He advised Members that 
the Protection department undertakes a routine, risk based programme of audits and 
inspection which was based on fire frequency data and guidance provided by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government, supplemented by local 
intelligence and knowledge.

He concluded by informing Members of the Service’s 100% prosecution success 
rate since the introduction of the Order in October 2006 and the extensive press 
coverage following each prosecution to provide public reassurance and send a clear 
deterrent message to businesses.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the Prosecution Update be noted.

10 NW FIRE CONTROL - ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16 

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services introduced the report to Members, 
which provided an update on the performance associated with North West Fire 
Control (NWFC).

Page 5



Minutes
Performance and Overview Committee

Wednesday, 16 November 2016

He advised Members that the report provided a broad measure of performance and 
updated them on system performance, call handling and mobilising performance, 
costs of service, staff performance, training and skills and meeting arrangements.

RESOLVED: That

[1] the NW Fire Control Annual Report 2015-16 be noted.

11 ON CALL AVAILABILITY 

The Head of Service Delivery introduced the report to Members and advised that it 
offered a comparison of on call performance for the first half of 2015-16 with the 
same period in 2016-17, including information for all on call fire appliances and a 
brief explanation of the key issues affecting performance.

He updated Members on the current availability percentage of on call appliances 
and the procedures and incentives to improve performance. He also informed 
Members of the current recruitment and retention levels and plans to improve 
numbers through reward schemes and rolling out the Cardiac Response pilot to on 
call stations.

A Member queried whether the changes to the Unwanted Fire Signal Policy and 
resulting decrease in call outs would impact on call stations and retention levels. The 
Head of Service Delivery advised Members that the volume of Automatic Fire 
Alarms (AFAs) attended by on call stations was very low, but there could be an 
impact on call outs.  However the implementation of the reward scheme and the 
introduction of Cardiac Response pilots at on call stations were all measures 
introduced to improve recruitment and retention levels. 

RESOLVED: That

[1] the On Call Availability report be noted.

12 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

The forward work programme for 2016-17 was submitted to Members for 
consideration and they were asked to agree any additional items that they wished to 
include for future meetings. 

A Member requested that a report concerning the performance of the Occupational 
Health Unit be added to the forward work programme for 2016-17. 

Page 6



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE : 1ST MARCH 2017  
REPORT OF : HEAD OF FINANCE
AUTHOR: WENDY BEBBINGTON
_____________________________________________________________

SUBJECT: 2016-17 QUARTER 3 REVIEW – FINANCIAL
_____________________________________________________________

Purpose of report

1. To present the 2016-17 Quarter 3 financial position of the Authority. 

Recommended: That

[1] Members note the Quarter 3 financial position and anticipated 
financial outturn.

Background

2. The estimated revenue budget and capital programme outturn positions 
are reported to Members on a quarterly basis. 

Information

Revenue Budget

3. Appendix 1 to this report shows the Quarter 3 financial position and 
estimated revenue outturn of the Authority compared to the budget as 
revised after the 16th November meeting of the Performance and 
Overview Committee.  Appendix 1a to this report is a more detailed 
analysis for Members’ information. A brief explanation of the variances 
is included in Appendix 1 with further explanations included in Appendix 
1a.  Key variances are explained more fully in the following paragraphs.

4. It is anticipated that there will be an outturn underspend of around £264k 
on Service Delivery.  The main reasons for this are lower than 
anticipated pay costs partly offset by the costs of a pilot on call support 
officer and payments relating to the On Call Attendance Reward 
Scheme (OCARS). 

5. There are estimated underspends on Protection of around £87k and on 
Prevention of around £115k, both mainly as a result of continuing staff 
vacancies. 

6. The estimated overspend on Property Management of £266k has 
occurred because funds have been earmarked for fire safety 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



requirements in the Authority’s properties.  Some additional 
maintenance work identified during the third quarter will also be 
accommodated, because of savings on business rates after successful 
appeals relating to some fire stations.  Additional maintenance work has 
also been undertaken, with more planned, which will be funded from 
reserves.  A new boiler (changing from oil to gas) is to be installed at 
Northwich and lighting is to be installed at Birchwood, Macclesfield and 
in the workshops at HQ (total cost estimated at £103k).  It is the 
intention to install traffic calming measures at the entrance to Penketh 
(estimated cost £20k), and work on the feasibility of new station 
arrangements at Chester, Crewe and Ellesmere Port is also being 
undertaken (£20k).

7. The estimated underspend of £36k on ICT is as a result of reduced 
telephony costs and some additional income from a partner fire 
authority.

8. The anticipated underspend of £148k on Finance Resources (which is 
budget held centrally), reflects the use of reserves to fund the 
anticipated contribution the Authority is making to the BLC 
implementation costs.  In addition, there are anticipated underspends as 
a result of lower than budgeted inflationary increases.

9. It is not anticipated that the funding of the Authority will differ from the 
estimates agreed by the Authority in the original budget. 

10. Overall the anticipated underspend at third quarter is £505k.  This is in 
addition to a £119k underspend anticipated at Quarter 1, and £192k at 
Mid Year Review as previously reported to the Committee.  The fourth 
quarter financial review is reported to the June meeting of the Authority.  
It is likely that there will be further underspends reported then as two 
contingency  budget items,  the general service contingency (£125k) and 
the provision against in year funding variances from local authorities 
(£250k) are unlikely to be spent this year. 

11. Any underspend for the year will be transferred to a suitable reserve (for 
example the Capital Reserve or the Community Risk Reduction 
Reserve) in accordance with the reserves strategy when the final 
accounts for 2016-17 are approved by the Fire Authority.

Capital Budget

12. Appendix 2 to the report shows the expected outturn on the capital 
programme.  Key variances are explained more fully in the following 
paragraphs.

13. The first section of Appendix 2 deals with the Emergency Response 
Programme. As can be seen there is a projected overspend of £761k. 
This overspend compares with a projected overspend of £343k at Mid 
Year Review.  The reasons for the overspend can be categorised as 
follows:

Page 8



 

Omissions /Re-
measurement 

Unforeseen 
issues/ Costs

Scope 
changes/ 
Additions

Total

Alsager -8 0 0 -8
Lymm 15 35 566 616
Penketh 14 93 6 113
Powey Lane 9 6 25 40
 30 134 597 761

14. The main items in each these categories are (with a number of smaller 
changes making up the balance):

a. Omissions/Re-measurements:

- Inclusion of a petrol interceptor at Penketh (£16k)
- Lighting and services to the training tower at Penketh (£13k)
- Reduction in cost of environmental mitigation at Penketh (-£17k)
- Change in surface to the drill tower base at  Powey Lane (£11k)

There have been no significant changes in this category since Mid Year 
Review. 

b. Unforeseen issues/Costs:

- Cable diversion at Penketh (£51k)
- Additional landscaping at Penketh (£31k)
- Site security at Penketh (£21k)
- BT infrastructure at Lymm (£21k)
- Ground conditions at Lymm (£17k)
- Repairs to culvert at Powey Lane (£17k)
- Highways work at Powey Lane (£15k)

These items are broadly in line with the items reported at Mid Year 
Review

In addition, since Mid Year Review:

- Reduction in ICT infrastructure at Lymm (-£10k)
- Reduction in station fit out at Lymm (-£10k)
- Reduction in station fit out at Powey Lane (-£10k)

c. Scope changes/Additions

- Treatment to wood cladding at Lymm (£31k)
- Specialist changing facility at Lymm (£27k)
- Safety Centre cable ducts at Lymm (£13k)
- Additional store and office at Powey Lane (£12k)
- Changes to finishes at Lymm (£10k)

Page 9



These items are broadly in line with the items reported at Mid Year 
Review

In addition, since Mid Year Review:

- Safety Centre fit out at Lymm (£394k)
- Conversion of basement void to store at Lymm (£39K)
- Additional changes to finishes at Lymm (£15k)

15. Members were updated on the position on the programme at the 
Members Planning Day in January 2017. The main reason for the 
increased overspend as now reported compared to Mid Year is that the 
estimated cost agreed with the contractor who is to deliver the fit out of 
the Safety Centre has increased.

16. Given the advanced stage of the development of the sites it is unlikely 
that there will be significant changes to the costs at Penketh or Powey 
Lane before the final accounts are agreed. The overall overspend on 
ERP remains within the contingency agreed by Members when they 
approved the final capital expenditure.

17. Of the prior year schemes reported in Appendix 2, the purchase of the 
two hydraulic platforms is now complete. The amount approved for new 
servers remains subject to BLC. Other schemes are either on track or 
completed, with the exception of the Line Rescue Vehicle. The original 
estimate to purchase this vehicle has proved to be inadequate and an 
additional amount was included in the draft capital programme which 
was considered by the Authority on 14th February 2017. It is hoped that 
the three new appliances approved in 2015-16 will be complete before 
the 2016-17 financial year end. 

18. Of the 2016-17 schemes, it is hoped that the 4 new appliances in the 
programme will be delivered early in the 2017-18 financial year.  One 
less four wheel drive vehicle than expected has been purchased in year, 
and the amount approved will be removed from the programme.  The 
remaining schemes are on track or complete. 

19. Overall, the anticipated outturn on the capital programme shows only a 
slight overspend (£207k), despite the anticipated position on the 
Emergency Response Programme. However, the overspend remains 
within the Member approved contingencies agreed in December 2015 
for the Emergency Response Programme (£871k) and also the Capital 
Programme for 2016-17 (£123k)

Financial implications

20. This report considers financial matters.

Legal Implications

21. There are no legal implications arising from the report. 

Page 10



Equality and diversity implications

22. There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.  

Environmental implications

23. There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  NONE

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Cheshire Fire Authority Revenue Budget 2016-17 Quarter 3 (3/4  year review)

Service Area

Original 

Budget

QTR 1 

adj

QTR 2 / 

MYR  adj
Revised 

budget

Expected 

Outturn Variance Notes

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Firefighting and rescue operations

Service Delivery 20,781 0 (349) 20,432 20,168 (264)
On call support officer pilot,  OCARS introduced, FFs in development 

and not all in pension scheme. Lower overall salary spend.

Operational Policy and Assurance 3,771 83 27 3,881 3,861 (20) Vacant posts offset by purchase of line rescue training equipment

Protection
1,798 (70) (111) 1,617 1,530 (87) Vacant posts, offset by some training and software costs

Prevention

Community Safety 1,968 (13) (49) 1,906 1,791 (115) Vacant posts

Public Services Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0

Safety Centre 208 (30) (9) 169 169 0

Support Services

Executive Management 737 (102) (1) 634 605 (29)

Property Management 1,495 0 414 1,909 2,175 266
Reductions in business rates, additional maintenance spend, cost of 

fire safety review work on fire estate. 

Finance 475 0 (41) 434 425 (9)

ICT 1,620 0 (97) 1,523 1,487 (36)
Additional income from partner authority and underspend on telephony 

costs

Legal and Democratic Services 528 0 9 537 516 (21)

People and Development 1,420 9 (47) 1,382 1,376 (6)

Planning, Performance & 

Communications
1,345 0 19 1,364 1,335 (29)

Procurement and stores 586 0 (3) 583 585 2 -

Fleet services 1,477 4 7 1,488 1,479 (9)

Unitary Performance Groups
100 0 0 100 100 0 -

Finance Resources
3,770 0 39 3,809 3,661 (148) Application of reserves for BLC, inflation lower than anticipated. 

0 119 0 119 119 0
Qtr 1 underspend reported to P&O 24 Aug 2016, to be transferred to 

reserves

0 0 192 192 192 0
Qtr 2 / MYR underspend reported to P&O 16 Nov 2016, to be 

transferred to reserves.

Total 
42,079 0 0 42,079 41,574 (505)

-   

(235) (235) (235) 0

(63) (63) (63) 0

250 250 250 0

Funding

(25,540) (25,540) (25,540) 0

(457) (457) (457) 0

(8,816) (8,816) (8,816) 0

152 152 152 0

(7,370) (7,370) (7,370) 0

(42,079) (42,079) (42,079) 0

0 0 (505) (505)

Business Rates S31 grants

S31 grant

Provision for non collection of funding

Council Tax

Collection Fund Surplus (council tax)

Business Rates Retention scheme

Collection Fund Deficit (business rates)

RSG

Total Funding

Net Budget / Outturn / Variance 

2016-17 Quarter 3 / 3/4 YR 

adjustments

2016-17 Qtr 2/ MYR underspend 

Total

2016-17 Qtr 1 underspend 

Appendix 1 to Item 2
Performance and Overview Committee

1 March 2017

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1a 

Cheshire Fire Authority Revenue Budget 2016-17 Quarter 3 (3/4  year review)

Service Area

Original 

Budget QTR 1 adj

QTR 2 / 

MYR  adj

Revised 

Budget
Revised 

budget

Expected 

Outturn Variance
Revised 

budget

Expected 

Outturn Variance
Revised 

budget

Expected 

Outturn Variance Notes

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Firefighting and rescue operations

Service Delivery 20,781 0 (349) 20,432 20,550 20,214 (336) (118) (46) 72 20,432 20,168 (264)
On call support officer pilot WM (B) leading to budget bid 18-19 (65k) .  OCARS introduced (£33k).  Some Firefighters still in devleopment (£42k) not all in pension scheme (£100k),  lower overall salary 

spend than anticipated.

Operational Policy and Assurance 3,771 83 27 3,881 4,249 4,185 (64) (368) (324) 44 3,881 3,861 (20) Salary underspend (44k) offset by purchase of line rescue training equipment (£30k), addiotional software costs and instructor allowances.

Protection
1,798 (70) (111) 1,617 1,626 1,521 (105) (9) 9 18 1,617 1,530 (87)  Vacant posts (£100k) , offset by some training and software costs (£27k)

Prevention

Community Safety 1,968 (13) (49) 1,906 2,110 1,995 (115) (204) (204) 0 1,906 1,791 (115) Vacant posts, offset by develpment work on cooking fire safety. 

Public Services Transformation 0 0 0 0 145 121 (24) (145) (121) 24 0 0 0

Safety Centre 208 (30) (9) 169 155 150 (5) 14 19 5 169 169 0

Support Services

Executive Management 737 (102) (1) 634 727 698 (29) (93) (93) 0 634 605 (29) Salary and supplies and services underspends

Property Management 1,495 0 414 1,909 2,105 2,058 (47) (196) 117 313 1,909 2,175 266
Reductions in busines rates (74k), additional maintenanace spend (33k) , cost of fire safety review work on fire estate (£296k),  additional income (£14k), Asset Managemnet plan/Valuations (£11k), 

Training Centre (£9k)

Finance 475 0 (41) 434 434 425 (9) 0 0 0 434 425 (9)

ICT 1,620 0 (97) 1,523 1,504 1,393 (111) 19 94 75 1,523 1,487 (36) Additional incoome from partner authority (£8k) and underspend on telephony costs (£22k) part year BLC  saving (£8k), savings on software/licences (£7k)

Legal and Democratic Services 528 0 9 537 573 552 (21) (36) (36) 0 537 516 (21) Underspends on Members Allowances and staff costs

People and Development 1,420 9 (47) 1,382 1,637 1,625 (12) (255) (249) 6 1,382 1,376 (6)

Planning, Performance & 

Communications
1,345 0 19 1,364 1,449 1,403 (46) (85) (68) 17 1,364 1,335 (29) Underspend on salaries  and photocopying. 

Procurement and stores 586 0 (3) 583 597 486 (111) (14) 99 113 583 585 2 -

Fleet services 1,477 4 7 1,488 1,604 1,595 (9) (116) (116) 0 1,488 1,479 (9)

Unitary Performance Groups
100 0 0 100 100 100 0 0 0 0 100 100 0 -

Finance Resources
3,770 0 39 3,809 1,729 1,719 (10) 2,080 1,942 (138) 3,809 3,661 (148) Application of reserves for BLC (£91k) , inflation lower than anticipated (£44K) transaparency grant (£8k), injury pensions (£5k). . 

0 119 0 119 0 0 0 119 119 0 119 119 0 Qtr 1 underspend reported to P&O 24 Aug 2016, to be transferred to reserves

0 0 192 192 0 0 0 192 192 0 192 192 0 Qtr 2 / MYR underspend reported to P&O 16 Nov 2016, to be transferred to reserves.

Total 
42,079 0 0 42,079 41,294 40,240 (1,054) 785 1,334 549 42,079 41,574 (505) -   

(235) (235) (235) 0

(63) (63) (63) 0

250 250 250 0

Funding

(25,540) (25,540) (25,540) 0

(457) (457) (457) 0

(8,816) (8,816) (8,816) 0

152 152 152 0

(7,370) (7,370) (7,370) 0

(42,079) (42,079) (42,079) 0

0 0 (505) (505)

(118,500) (119) 1st qtr

(191,800) (192) myr (includes £500k for training facilities)

3/4 YR

(125,000) (125) +service cont

(435,300) (436)

(310,300)

Business Rates S31 grants

S31 grant

Provision for non collection of funding

Council Tax

Collection Fund Surplus (council tax)

Business Rates Retention scheme

Collection Fund Deficit (business rates)

RSG

Total Funding

Net Budget / Outturn / Variance 

2016-17 Qtr 2/ MYR underspend 

2016-17 Quarter 3 / 3/4 YR adjustments

Net Expenditure/ (Income) Reserve Movements Total

2016-17 Qtr 1 underspend 

Appendix 1a to Item 2
Performance and Overview Committee

1 March 2017

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Capital Programme 2016-17 estimated outturn monitoring report  - Quarter 3 (3/4 year review)

brought 

forward
2016-17 Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Emergency Response Programme

Lymm
2013-14 / 2014-15 / 

2015-16
9,159 1,673 5,256 6,929 9,775 616 Ongoing.

Penketh
2013-14 / 2014-15 / 

2015-16
3,403 2,198 1,259 3,457 3,516 113 Build complete, some fees still due.

Powey Lane (M53/M56)
2013-14 / 2014-15 / 

2015-16
3,523 1,916 1,566 3,482 3,563 40 Build complete, some fees still due.

Alsager
2013-14 / 2014-15 / 

2015-16
1,340 1,322 (23) 1,299 1,332 (8) Scheme complete, some fees still due

Sub-total - Emergency Response Programme 17,425 7,109 8,058 15,167 18,186 761

Prior Year Approved Schemes b/f - in Progress 
ICT Review/Server Replacement Programme 2011-12 / 2015-16 400 311 0 311 400 0 To be used to fund server replacement - subject to BLC
Hydraulic Platform 2014-15 700 110 491 601 601 (99) Complete - Delivered June 2016

Appliance Replacement Programme 2015-16 840 0 524 524 765 (75)
Contract awarded - 3 x appliances scheduled for delivery March 2017.  Due 

to be registered 1/3/17
Hydraulic Platform 2015-16 700 110 491 601 601 (99) Complete - Delivered May 2016

Line Rescue Vehicle 2015-16 50 0 0 0 80 30

Higher specification vehicle proposed following review of requirements. 

Budget bid for 'top-up' £30k approval to be submitted to Members for 

consideration as part of the 2017-18 Capital Programme.  If approved 

purchase will proceed in early 2017-18.
Driver Training Vehicle 2015-16 16 0 20 20 20 4 Complete - Delivered April 2016
Minibus 2015-16 30 0 0 0 24 (6) Order Placed.  Delivery anticipated mid March 2017
Support vehicles 2015-16 20 0 22 22 22 2 Complete - 2 x vehicles delivered June 2016

Sub-total - Prior Year Schemes In Progress 2,756 531 1,548 2,079 2,513 (243)

2016-17 Approved Schemes
Appliance Replacement Programme 2016-17 857 0 0 0 765 (92) Contract awarded - 3 x appliances for delivery June 2017
One additional new appliance 2016-17 286 0 0 0 255 (31) Contract awarded - appliance for delivery June 2017
Four Wheel Drive Resilience 2016-17 55 0 48 48 51 (4) Complete - Delivered November 2016
1 x additional Four Wheel Drive Resilience 2016-17 55 0 0 0 0 (55) No longer required
2 * water incident units 2016-17 154 0 0 0 154 0 Ongoing 
1 * flat bed lorry 2016-17 60 0 31 31 31 (29) Complete - Delivered January 2017
2 *  cadets vehicles 2016-17 20 0 0 0 20 0 Ongoing 
Support vehicles replacement programme 2016-17 60 0 0 0 60 0 Ongoing 
Replacement Cutting Gear 2016-17 814 0 37 37 740 (74) Order Placed. Delivery scheduled February 2017.
Replacement Defibrillators 2016-17 62 0 41 41 41 (21) Complete - underspend due to lower price per unit.
Additional Defibrillators 2016-17 14 0 9 9 9 (5) Complete - underspend due to lower price per unit.
Server replacement programme 2016-17 58 0 0 0 58 0 Subject to review and BLC

Sub-total - 2016-17 Approved Schemes 2,495 0 166 166 2,184 (311)

Total 2016-17 Capital Programme 22,676 7,640 9,772 17,412 22,883 207

Notes

Project
Approval Year

Approved 

Budget

Expenditure 
Expected 

Outturn
Variance

Appendix 2 to Item 2
Performance and Overview Committee

1 March 2017

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 1ST MARCH 2017
REPORT OF: HEAD OF PROTECTION AND ORGANISATIONAL 

PERFORMANCE 
AUTHOR: DAVID ROBINSON & MANDY EELES

SUBJECT: 2016-17 QUARTER 3 REVIEW – PERFORMANCE 
_______________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report

1. To present the Quarter 3 (Q3) review of performance for each of Cheshire 
Fire and Rescue Service’s (the Service) Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) to Members. 

Recommended that: 

[1] Members review and consider the information presented in this 
report. 

Background

2. The Q3 report forms part of the quarterly performance reporting cycle to 
Performance and Overview Committee, which also includes financial 
performance and IRMP programme delivery updates.  

Information

3. The Service’s Performance and Programme Board receive a quarterly 
review of performance against KPIs captured in the Corporate Performance 
Scorecard.  The Board is responsible for monitoring and reviewing progress 
against performance targets and ensuring that action is taken if targets are 
not being met.   

4. The Corporate Performance Scorecard is attached as Appendix 1 to this 
report. It reflects the Q3 position against targets set and the year on year 
direction of travel for the Service’s KPIs. 

5. A more detailed description of each KPI which includes a summary of 
current performance and any actions taken to improve performance is 
attached as Appendix 2 to this report.

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



Financial implications

6. Specific financial and budget impacts are detailed in the financial report 
presented separately by the Head of Finance.

Legal implications
 

7. There are no issues to report at the end of Q3 that would affect the Service’s 
ability to meet its statutory or other legal obligations.

Equality & Diversity implications

8. There are no specific equality and diversity issues. Equality monitoring 
information and resulting issues are reported to the Equality Steering 
Group.

Environmental implications

9. There are no specific environmental implications. Environmental 
performance targets are reviewed and monitored as part of the delivery of 
the Fire Authority’s Environmental Strategy.  

Appendix 1 - Q3 2016-17 Corporate Scorecard
Appendix 2 - Performance Summary Reports
 

Page 20



Vision

IRMP 

Theme

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3

 Y
e

a
r 

o
n

 Y
e

a
r

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

-

1
6

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3

 Y
e

a
r 

o
n

 Y
e

a
r

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

-

1
6

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3

 Y
e

a
r 

o
n

 Y
e

a
r

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

-

1
6

Deaths in Primary Fires 6 0  1 10 Minute Standard 87% 80%  85%
Average Days/Shifts Lost to 

sickness
2.47 4.13  2.58

Injuries in Primary Fires 51 32  35 On Call Availability 68% 85%  67% Working Days Lost To Injury 39 45  49

Accidental dwelling fires 307 279  283

 - % starting in kitchens
186

(60%)
n/a 

176 

(62)%

 - % in homes with residents 

over pensionable age

81

(26%)
n/a 

68 

(24%)

Deliberate fires (Primary and 

Secondary)
928 1,049  1,087

Fires in Non Domestic Premises 130 125  118

AFAs in Non Domestic Premises 880 818  811

A
c
tu

a
l

T
a

rg
e

t

Q
3

 Y
e

a
r 

o
n

 Y
e

a
r

Q
3

 2
0

1
5

-

1
6

HSAs Delivered to Heightened Risk 30,245 30,000  20,078

Platinum address success rate 68% 65% n/a 66%

Thematic Inspections Completed 1,275 1,230  1,345

NDP Fire Safety Audits Completed 1,208 1,200  1,721

 Performance key Year on year direction key

Negative  direction of travel year 

Quarter 3 2016/17 Performance

A Cheshire where there are no deaths, injuries or damage from fires or other emergencies

Protecting Local Communities Responding to Emergencies Developing the organisation

Meeting target Positive  direction of travel year on year

Negative  direction of travel year on year by  up to 10%Within 10% of target

Failing against target by at least 10%

O
u

tp
u

ts
O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

Appendix 1 to Item 3
Performance and Overview Committee

1 March 2017

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Number of Deaths in Primary Fires] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

At the end of Q3 there have been six fatalities for the year to date 
- all of which were in dwelling fires.   

Focusing on the age profile of the victims, one fatality was aged 
under 18, three were aged between 18 and 64 and two were aged 
over 65.  Focusing on gender, five of the victims were male and 
one female.   

Each incident had a different primary cause – use of a deep fat 
fryer/chip pan, smoking materials, matches or candles.  A number 
of these incidents are still to go to Coroner’s court. Of those 
already heard two incidents relate to suicide/misadventure. 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

The Service continues to work with various partners and stakeholders and a fatal fire review is 
completed following each incident. Findings and outcomes are recorded and an Action Plan is 
created and monitored at Head of Department level.  Where appropriate, the Service will continue 
to make recommendations to the Coroner and will work with partner agencies to prevent these 
instances occurring in the future. 

HSA delivery and platinum engagement success rate are both on target for year end.  The advice 
provided on these visits will be enhanced in Q4 with the introduction of Safe and Well visits.   Phase 
1 of Safe and Well project comprises advice on slips, trips and falls; bowel cancer screening; smoking 
cessation and alcohol reduction.      

Not all of the deaths were in the over 65 age group.  Early discussions are taking place to explore 
the possibility of mental health and alcohol as being contributory factors in cases of deaths in fire.  
Talks with local mental health and alcohol reduction teams are being instigated around the NHS’s 
Sustainability and Transformational plan; in particular we are working with partners to develop a 
risk assessment regarding patient discharge. 

R R 

Appendix 2 to Item 2
Performance and Overview Committee 

1 March 2017

Page 23



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Number of Injuries in Primary Fires] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 The number of injuries in primary fires remains over target at Q3 
and these are most commonly occurring in accidental dwelling 
fires (36 of the 51). 
 
There have been a further 19 injuries in primary fires in Q3, 
bringing the 16/17 year to date total to 51 (compared with 35 for 
the same period last year). However, 46 of the injuries were 
described as slight, including being overcome by smoke or having 
slight burns.  5 people suffered a serious injury, of which 4 had 
serious burns. 
 
The station areas with the highest number of injuries are Chester 
(9) and Crewe (7), whilst cooking is the most common cause of 
accidental dwelling fires and also accounts for the highest 
proportion of injuries (17). 
 
Looking at the household occupancy, one third of all injuries in 
accidental dwelling fires involve people aged over 65 who live on 
their own.  If someone from this group has a dwelling fire then it 
is 25% more likely, than in any other group, that there will be a 
resultant injury. 
 
Almost one quarter of all accidental fires involving candles, 
matches or smoking materials result in a subsequent injury. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

In conjunction with the Campaigns group we will ensure that relevant messages are 
communicated to our local communities.  Information will be refreshed on the website as 
necessary, together with focussed target-led initiatives as appropriate, e.g. the Service’s ‘white 
goods’ safety campaign and the Home Safety Direct campaign which are being launched in March 
2017.  A new Safety in the Home leaflet is being produced.   
 
Note:  
 
Incident Recording System (IRS) records will be validated to confirm the accuracy of the data, as 
there is an indication that some incidents may have been miscoded and the individual concerned 
may have received a ‘precautionary check’ rather than suffering an injury.  This validation will be 
communicated and recorded in the Q4 report.  We will continue to assess individuals to see 
whether there are any specific areas of risk which require intervention.    
 
 

R R 

Page 24



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Number of Accidental Dwelling Fires] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 The number of accidental dwelling fires (ADFs) is currently 10% 
above target, with the number of fires increasing from 283 to 307 
over the same period last year.  
 
Notably, 44.3% of all dwelling fires were out on arrival of the Fire 
Service (36.9% last year). 
 
The increase is primarily focused around over 65s who live alone 
with the number of incidents involving this age group rising to 81 
compared to 68 in the same period last year.  
 
The most common cause of accidental dwelling fires is cooking, 
which accounts for 48% of all incidents. The next most common 
causes are kitchen appliances and electrical wiring, cables and 
plugs. The majority of the increase is in Cheshire East, however 
there are no specific areas which have seen a significant increase. 
There are a number of areas that have seen a small increase 
including Poynton, Macclesfield, Wilmslow and Congleton. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

Cooking is still the most common cause of ADFs. We will continue with targeted campaigns, 
interventions and educational programmes with an aim to reducing these figures. 
 
In conjunction with the Campaigns group we will ensure that relevant messages are communicated 
to our local communities.  Information will be refreshed on the website as necessary, together with 
focussed target-led initiatives as appropriate, e.g. the Service’s ‘white goods’ safety campaign and 
the Home Safety Direct campaign which are being launched in March 2017.  A new Safety in the 
Home leaflet is being produced.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A R 

Page 25



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [ Number of Deliberate Fires] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 

 

 

 

There were 223 Deliberate Primary Fires at the end of Q3, against 
a target of 205.  
 
The peak times for incidents is between 21:00-23:00 and 01:00-
03:00.  The highest number of incidents involved cars (66), single 
occupancy houses (26) and prisons (18).  The incidents between 
01:00 and 03:00 mainly involve deliberate car fires, with the 
highest number of car fires in Warrington (12) and Crewe (12). 
 

  
 

There were 705 Deliberate Secondary Fires reported at the end of 
Q3, against a target of 844.  This indicator is ahead of target with 
annual future decreases also projected. 
 
The peak time for incidents is between 18:00-21:00, whilst the 
highest risk areas are Warrington, Winsford and Ellesmere Port. 
These three areas account for 51% of all incidents.  In Warrington 
loose refuse (59) and wheelie bins (38) are the main ignition 
sources.  It should be noted that 15 wheelie bin fires in 
Warrington occurred in December, particularly on the Recreation 
Ground on Radley Common. 
 
There was a significant increase in the number of incidents in 
Winsford over the bonfire period. The peak day for incidents is a 
Sunday. 
 
Whilst the main fires are small refuse containers, wheelie bin and 
loose refuse with the first two being an issue in Warrington and 
Winsford. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

The secondment of the Police Liaison Officer came to an end in December.  Improved partnership 
arrangements with Cheshire Police have been put in place to coincide with his departure.  We now 
have a dedicated Arson SPOC (Specific Point of Contact) in each Local Policing Unit. 
 
Further analysis of the car fires has taken place in Warrington and information has been shared with 
the Police.  Police Notification Reports will continue to be completed after each incident.   
 
In terms of prison fires, Cheshire Fire Authority has no jurisdiction to enforce fire safety in Crown 
premises. However, we continue to work with Prison fire officers and Crown Premises Inspection 
Group (CPIG) on strategies to reduce these numbers. 
 

G G 

Page 26



Performance and Programme Board 

Learning outcomes from this year’s bonfire period have been incorporated into next year’s Bonfire 
Strategy.  
 
There have been 2 impact days in Winsford and an analysis of 999 calls will continue.  The On The 
Streets Team have been working in Winsford, but have been withdrawn over concerns for their 
safety.  Work with local partner agencies, e.g. housing will continue. 
 

  

Page 27



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Fires in Non Domestic Premises] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 
 

 

Fires in non-domestic premises (NDPs) are recording a slight 
increase and are over target with 130 fires against a target of 125 
as at the end of Q3.  118 fires in NDPs were recorded during the 
same period in 15/16. 
 
The property types with the highest number of incidents are 
prisons (19) and single shops (13) 
 
84 of the fires were recorded as accidental and 44 as deliberate 
(2 unknown).  Of those deliberate fires 18 occurred in prisons, 
with 11 occurring at Styal and 7 at Risley. Each deliberate fire in a 
prison involved a lighter, smoking materials or lit paper. 
 
In 46.3% of incidents the fire was limited to the item first ignited 
and a further 21.1% were confined to the room of origin. Ten of 
the incidents in which the fire was limited to the item first ignited 
were in prisons. Most involved the use of smoking materials, 
cigarette lighters or lit paper in which a bin, bedding or light fitting 
was the source material. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

These incidents are closely monitored to ascertain trends and possible solutions to any recurring 
issues.  
 
The Protection team are working with the Health and Safety Executive regarding the issue of fires 
occurring in production processes in NDPs e.g during the manufacture of a product. 
 
The majority of the 18 deliberate prison fires occurred at Styal (12).  Cheshire Fire Authority has no 
jurisdiction to enforce fire safety in Crown premises, however we continue to work with Prison fire 
officers and CPIG on strategies to reduce these numbers. 
 
The main cause given for accidental fires in NDPs is electrical.  Advice on electrical safety will 
continue to be included on future Business Safety and audit visits, business seminars, impact events 
and the Service’s website.  Work will be undertaken to review and update this advice as appropriate.  
The relevant local authority will also be informed for follow-up action where it falls within the scope 
of its enforcement activity.   
 
 
 
 

R 

Page 28



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [AFAs in Non Domestic Premises] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 AFAs in non-domestic premises are currently over target – 880 as 
at the end of Q3 (against a target of 818).   
 
Property types with the highest number of incidents are hospitals 
(136), purpose built offices (79), Infant/primary schools (60) and 
nursing homes (60).  The majority of AFAs at hospitals occurred at 
the Countess of Cheshire Hospital and Warrington General 
Hospital. In addition 721 AFAs (88.1%) occurred outside of policy 
hours.  
 
The recent Unwanted Fire Alarm Signals (UwFS), Policy review 
identified that improvements in numbers are unlikely until further 
incremental changes are implemented.     
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

A review of the UwFS Policy has resulted in proposals to change the way we respond to AFAs and a 
report setting out the options was presented to CFA and accepted by members in December 2016.   
 
Once the changes are implemented the Service will adopt a non attendance policy 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week to all non sleeping risk premises unless supported by a phone call to confirm 
there is a fire and a fire service attendance is required.  There will be no call challenge.  The higher 
risk premises, with sleeping risks, e.g. hospitals, residential care homes, COMAH sites and high rise 
will continue to get attendance anytime during the day and night.  This option is projected to result 
in a further 66.8% annual reduction in UWFS which equates to 700 fewer calls. 
 
The Protection team are working with Corporate Communications on an appropriate 
communications strategy to assist with the implementation of the changes.  The changes to the 
policy will be communicated and implemented to align with the start of 17/18 and this will improve 
performance. 
 
Hospitals have the highest number of false alarms (136) although year-on-year performance has 
improved significantly as fire inspecting officers continue to work to reduce numbers with 
representatives on the hospital groups across the service area.    
 
Purpose built offices (79), Nursing Homes (60) and Primary Schools (60) follow in terms of the 
highest numbers of false alarms recorded.  Local fire inspecting officers continue to liaise with 
repeat offenders to bring numbers down further. 
 
Notably, of the 880 incidents recorded, the Service would not attend 567 under the terms of the 
revised policy as they occurred in non-sleeping risk premises.    
 

 

A A 

Page 29



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Number of HSAs Delivered to properties of Heightened Risk] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 
 

 The total number of HSAs completed as a service at the end of Q3 
was 30,245. 
 
Managers have balanced commitments against available capacity 
and Advocates have performed above individual targets in order 
to get back on track to meet the year end target.   
 
The team has experienced greater than average staff turnover 
and reduction in hours by experienced team members in recent 
months.   
 

  The overall platinum address success rate at Q3 is at 68% against 
a service target of 65%. 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

 
HSA delivery and platinum engagement success rate are both on target for year end.  There will be 
continued engagement using approved data-sets, including Exeter data and partner referrals. 
 
The advice provided on these visits will be enhanced in Q4 with the introduction of Safe and Well 
visits (starting 1 February 2017).   Phase 1 of Safe and Well project comprises additional advice on 
slips, trips and falls; bowel cancer screening; smoking cessation and alcohol reduction for 
householders during the visits.      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

G 

G G 

G 

Page 30



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Thematic Inspections Completed] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance 

 

 

 
 

 

 
310 thematic inspections were completed in Q3. 
 
1,275 thematics year to date (annual target 1,640) – ahead of 
target at 79%.    
 
Protection officers carried out 40 re-inspections of premises 
following issues identified by operational crews during thematic 
inspections.  24 of these required further fire safety activity.   
 
Themes for visits include Christmas (over-stocking), fireworks and 
reacting to national issues, e.g. warehouse fires. 
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

 
We continue to monitor and identify any appropriate trends for thematics and the Protection team 
will continue to follow-up on any issues operational crews find during their visits and enforce where 
appropriate. 
 

Page 31



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Number of NDP Fire Safety Audits Completed] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 
 

 

At the end of Q3 the number of fire safety audits is on target with 
a total of 1,208 audits having been completed against a yearly 
target of 1,600.   
 
404 audits were completed in Q3 including 240 at satisfactory 
premises.  98 Notification of deficiencies, 47 Action Plans, 19 
Enforcement Notices and 2 prohibitions were issued.  
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

The Protection team are currently reviewing and preparing 14 cases for prosecution for premises 
where serious breaches of the FSO have occurred.  Year to date we have successfully prosecuted 
the Responsible Persons/Duty Holders concerned with two residential care homes. 
 
The Protection team’s audit activities will continue to be intelligence-led.  Resources will continue 
to be targeted depending on risk and any identified trends.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A 

Page 32



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [10 Minute Standard] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 The standard of response to life risk incidents is currently 87% 
against a target of 80%. Looking at the breakdown the figure for 
dwelling fires is 91.78% and RTCs 81%. The improvement has 
occurred through achieving the response standard more often for 
RTCs which rose to 81% from 76.6%. 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

Performance improvement has been achieved through analysing all incidents where we failed to 
achieve the standard to identify any patterns that may occur and through the implementation of 
proposals within the ERP programme. 
 
We are continuing our work with Rapid Response Rescue Units at Holmes Chapel and Sandbach to 
improve response times on the M6 motorway & North West Fire Control regarding call handling & 
mobilising arrangements. 
 
 

 

  

G G 

Page 33



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Average Days/Shifts Lost to Sickness] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 During Quarter 3 of 2016/2017, of the 32 Fire and Rescue Services 
providing data for this indicator, once again Cheshire was within 
the top three Fire and Rescue Services in all categories for levels 
of attendance – top in both the On Call category and Green Book. 
  

Staffing 
Categories 

Rank 
Working 
Days Lost 

Average 
Days Lost 
across all 

FRS 

Whole-time 3 3.09 5.27 

On Call 1 2.34 7.75 

Green Book 1 1.98 6.45 

 
When all categories of staff are combined this gives an overall 
figure of 2.47 working days lost against a national average of 6.49 
days.  This represents an improvement of 4.26% over Q3 last year 
and against the national picture Cheshire FRS has 62% fewer days 
lost to sickness than the Q3 national average.   
 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

There are no specific actions for improvement at this time but monthly Attendance Management 
meetings continue to ensure the appropriate level of monitoring and scrutiny is applied.  Quarterly 
contract meetings with OHU also take place to monitor service delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report 

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [Working Days Lost to Injury] 

Previous 
Status 

Current 
Status 

Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

 
 

 Currently 39 days have been lost to injury up to the end of 
quarter 3 compared to 49 days for the same period last year. 
This indicator is 13% ahead of target. 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

The improvement in performance has occurred for a number of reasons. The first is improved 
absence management by HR. There has also been greater scrutiny of accident/personal injury 
reports by the Health & Safety Manager. In addition to this there have been fewer accidents and 
the severity of the accidents have reduced, all of which together have contributed to the average 
number of working days lost to injury being reduced significantly. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

G G 

Page 35



Performance and Programme Board 

Performance and Programme Board – Performance Report

Reporting 
Period 

Quarter Q3 From 01/10/2016 To 31/12/2016 

Indicator: [On Call Availability] 

Previous 
Status 

Current Status Summary of Current Performance and Intelligence 

Nucleus On Call Overall performance for on call availability is 68% which is an 
improvement over the same period last year.   Overall, five 
individual pumps achieved the service target of 85%, whilst 80% of 
pumps saw improved levels of availability compared to quarter 2 of 
this year. 

However there are significant differences between the different 
on-call shift systems. When the on call pump is part of a nucleus 
crewing system availability is 93.07%, which is a significant 
improvement on the target. Also, when the on call system is the 
primary pump, the availability is 75.8% which even though it is 
lower than the target, it is above average. Taking these two systems 
together the average availability is 78.3%. 

Where the on call appliance is the second pump at a station then 
the average availability is 44.03%. 

 

Primary On Call 

 

Secondary On Call 

What actions will be required to improve performance during the following quarter? 

RECRUITMENT 

 Full complement recruited for Penketh: the team went live on 11 January 2017. A large
majority of the new team have had their quarterly assessments brought forward because of
the extra training and work they have been putting in and in order to meet their FF3, FF4 and
FF5 deadline dates.

 Full complement recruited for Alsager:  the cohort have responded to dozens of incidents as
shadow pump and are on track to go live from April 2017.

 Significant improvements to numbers recruited at Crewe and Ellesmere Port.  Both stations 
are on track to have 11 staff after the initial recruit course in June 2017.  Further recruitment 
events planned to increase this further.

 Currently scoping new approach to on call recruitment and initial training course.  This would
mean that each month there would be one initial course (MOD1) and 1 session for the written
and practical tests - the aim being to provide more and regular opportunities for new on call
candidates.

REWARDS / RETENTION (Increase pay, rewards and job satisfaction thus improving retention) 

 Introduced Forced Entry across all stations

 Introduced Cardiac Response Pilot at Holmes Chapel and Frodsham.  This will be reviewed in
February with the aim of rolling the project out to all stations.

 Utilise on call staff to work full shifts on whole-time stations

 Continue to use ‘shadow pump’ concept for new on call teams

 To further improve pay and link it directly to performance, officers have recently (1 October
2016) introduced a new On Call Availability Reward Scheme (OCARS).  This scheme will mean

G G 

R R 

R R 

Page 36



Performance and Programme Board 

a financial reward of between £550 and £1000 for staff working at stations that achieve the 
on call availability target of 85%.   
 

MANAGEMENT/SUPERVISION 

 Appoint On Call Support Officers (Station Manager) thereby increasing the number of support 
managers from 2 to 3.   

 Introduce pilot for a new Whole-time On Call Watch Manager role.  This new role will oversee 
Knutsford and Holmes Chapel, providing both managerial capacity and operational daytime 
cover, thus helping to improve pump availability.  

 Deliver regular meeting/conferences for on call managers so they can interact with senior 
officers and feedback issues and concerns. 

 Continue pilot at a number of stations, which means those stations can employ an extra 
supervisory manager on a temporary basis.  

 
DAYTIME COVER  

 Considering the possibility of using technology to allow the on call pumps to be available - in 
certain circumstances - but on a delayed turnout, thus maximising resources. 

 Currently developing a partnership with Howdens Joinery to increase day cover at Runcorn. 
 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

 Continue quarterly monitoring report to track key indicators relating to on call availability.  
These include Mobilisations; percentage of Budget spent; Pump Availability YTD; Number of 
Staff, Supervisory Managers, ICA's, Drivers, Competent FFs.  Number of New Recruits and 
Leavers in last 12 months. 

 Introduce quarterly performance report comparing individual contracted hours with actual 
performance for all on call employees.  This will be sent to Watch and Station Managers for 
the purposes of performance management. 

 Introduce a revised station performance report to separate the three different types of on call 
pump: 1) Primary On-Call (Wholly on-call station) 2) Secondary On-Call (second pump on a 2 
pump station) 3) Nucleus On-Call (on-call providing night cover).  This will be published to all 
stations each month showing on call availability performance from 1 April, compared with the 
same period in the previous year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 37



Performance and Programme Board 

Appendix 1 

Shift System 
OC 

Appliance 
Location 

April May June July August September October November December Percentage 

Nucleus OC Birchwood 84.80% 92.84% 94.95% 86.91% 88.89% 75.52% 91.48% 96.93% 86.91% 88.80% 

Nucleus OC Wilmslow 99.18% 98.64% 98.33% 95.98% 99.35% 99.59% 98.71% 97.55% 99.18% 97.33% 

Primary OC Audlem 60.83% 65.80% 56.60% 62.32% 58.13% 57.66% 66.00% 69.85% 57.15% 61.56% 

Primary OC Bollington 55.89% 63.89% 41.68% 45.60% 33.95% 55.17% 70.13% 52.82% 38.75% 50.84% 

Primary OC Frodsham 88.18% 89.99% 87.26% 80.38% 75.27% 78.95% 91.72% 96.70% 91.72% 86.67% 

Primary OC Holmes Chapel 77.59% 82.25% 80.24% 75.44% 80.34% 76.87% 78.98% 83.27% 81.30% 79.57% 

Primary OC Macclesfield 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 99.73% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 99.97% 

Primary OC Malpas 69.17% 70.84% 79.77% 79.15% 75.58% 74.55% 64.16% 77.76% 74.76% 73.95% 

Primary OC Middlewich 76.84% 82.22% 67.57% 70.36% 52.38% 65.42% 72.61% 78.68% 62.46% 69.81% 

Primary OC Nantwich 82.35% 78.40% 78.51% 79.22% 81.91% 76.70% 85.62% 90.26% 88.25% 82.34% 

Primary OC Poynton 75.81% 86.03% 72.82% 70.94% 67.57% 65.90% 81.13% 87.94% 84.33% 76.92% 

Primary OC Sandbach 93.94% 98.40% 98.77% 95.74% 94.79% 84.67% 94.55% 91.89% 89.68% 93.60% 

Primary OC Tarporley 54.46% 48.73% 62.84% 59.84% 57.86% 58.51% 59.84% 69.61% 56.60% 58.67% 

Secondary OC Congleton 58.37% 55.41% 55.34% 54.01% 53.20% 51.15% 54.05% 61.13% 44.27% 54.07% 

Secondary OC Macclesfield 62.56% 49.01% 42.98% 37.15% 23.46% 54.32% 73.40% 60.89% 48.66% 50.23% 

Secondary OC Northwich 47.06% 46.79% 45.80% 48.77% 41.58% 40.35% 52.72% 46.93% 35.04% 44.96% 

Secondary OC Runcorn 52.07% 54.01% 41.75% 37.05% 40.01% 26.39% 48.97% 54.25% 38.72% 43.65% 

Secondary OC Stockton Heath 31.70% 25.64% 32.72% 26.22% 45.22% 37.05% 52.75% 51.83% 47.27% 38.89% 

Secondary OC Winsford 32.82% 17.77% 34.32% 31.50% 45.26% 33.85% 41.10% 41.14% 14.19% 32.39% 

 
Monthly 
Availability 69.25% 70.20% 67.32% 66.77% 65.62% 64.70% 73.81% 74.44% 66.93% 67.59% 

 

P
age 38



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 1st MARCH 2017
REPORT OF: CHIEF FIRE OFFICER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
AUTHORS: JOANNE SMITH/VICTORIA ELLIOTT

SUBJECT: 2016-17 QUARTER 3 REVIEW – 
IRMP PROGRAMMES AND PROJECTS

_______________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report

1. To update Members on the Service’s 2016-17 Integrated Risk 
Management Plan programmes and projects.

Recommended: That

[1] Members review and consider the information provided.

Background

2. This Quarter 3 (Q3) report forms part of the Authority’s quarterly 
performance reporting cycle which also includes performance reports on 
key performance indicators and financial performance.

Information

3. Progress on delivery of the IRMP programmes and projects is reported in 
the form of a ‘health report’ quarterly to the Service’s Performance and 
Programme  Board (members of Service Management Team). The 
Service’s Performance and Programme Board is responsible for ensuring 
the successful delivery of programmes and projects contained in the 
Authority’s annual IRMP action plans. The Q3 health report is attached as 
Appendix 1 to this report. It was produced in January 2017 and verbal 
updates will be provided, where necessary.   

Financial Implications

4. Specific financial and budget impacts are detailed in the financial report 
presented separately by the Head of Finance.

Legal Implications
 

5. There are no issues to report at Quarter 3 that would affect the Service’s 
ability to meet its statutory or other legal obligations.

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



Equality & Diversity Implications

6. Programmes and projects are required to have equality impact 
assessments completed in accordance with the approved Project 
Management Framework.
 

Environmental Implications

7. Projects are individually assessed for environmental implications by the 
relevant project managers in accordance with the Service’s Project 
Management Framework.

 
Appendix 1 – Q3 IRMP Programme Health Report 

Page 40



Appendix 1 to Item 4 
Performance and Overview Committee 

1 March 2017 

 

Performance and Programme Board – Programme Health Report 
All data supplied in the report has been populated directly from the Cheshire Planning System on 12 January 2017, any changes 

after this date will not be reflected. 

Reporting Period FROM 26 OCTOBER 2016 TO 12 JANUARY 2017 

PROJECT PROGRESS SUMMARIES, RAG STATUS AND IMPACT MITIGATION 

1226 PROGRAMME: BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION 

PROGRAMME SPONSOR Mark Sellwood PROGRAMME MANAGER Sarah Davies 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

Review of current programme timelines to reflect changes to MFSS implementation and 
colocation of staff 

Programme Update 
 

 
Programme Management  
 
The Programme budget included implementation costs for the provision of a Joint Vehicle Maintenance Unit and 
estimated savings were identified. The development of the Blueprint revealed that these savings would not be possible, 
at least in the short-term. As a result, a decision was taken in December 2016 to remove this from the current 
Programme. 
 
The Multi Force Shared Service (MFSS) project was due to start in September 2016 to complete by April 2017. A 
decision has been taken to move to a new version of Oracle which will significantly reduce both implementation and 
ongoing revenue costs. As a result the project will now be initiated in January 2017 to complete late 2017/ early 2018. 
Detailed planning is currently ongoing to confirm the final timeline.  The decision has impacted on the delivery of the 
Programme, but will still allow the Programme to be concluded before the April 2018 Programme end-date.  
Major risks to the programme are outlined below: 
• MFSS. Any delays to the MFSS could incur additional programme costs and delay the final Joint Corporate 
Service model.  
• PFI legal negotiations. If legal agreements are not reached in a timely manner then any required estates work 
could be delayed. 
 
Legal and Contracts  
 

 Programme Collaboration Agreement signed off. 

 IT Service Level Agreement to be finalised.  

 Property documents for the PFI to be produced following publication of the Programme by the PFI provider and 
PFI funder approval process. 

 MFSS Collaboration Agreement and Deed of Adherence to be produced once a decision about Oracle Fusion 
has been made.  

Page 41



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

 End State Collaboration Agreement to be produced by the end of March.  

 Programme Governance Workshop planned on 27th January to refine and develop governance models 
previously presented to Programme Board and Chief Officers. 

 
Process and Business Change  
 

 Blue print panels completed and further blueprint panels for Communications and Business Intelligence will be 
held in July 2017. 

 Principal Officers co-locating to joint HQ in August 2017.  

 Estates, Strategic Change and part of the Planning and Performance team are due to transfer in April 17’.  The 
other departments are due to transfer in line with MFSS October 17’ go live. 

 Updated transition plan signed-off at Programme Board. 

 Redevelopment of the Co-location Checklist completed. 

 Co-location readiness assessments to be completed for Communications and Planning & Performance who are 
due to co-locate in February.  

 
People  

 

 Finalisation of vetting of Fire staff to be part of Joint Corporate Services and MFSS. 

 Undertaken matching decisions for transferring Fire staff and identified people impacts.  There is a need to 
finalise the work in relation to matching, i.e. revision of Job Descriptions etc.   

 Collective Consultation commenced on 9th January 2017 and closes on 7th February (excluding 
Communications and Business Intelligence team of Planning & Performance).  Joint staff briefings held week 
commencing 9th January for all staff within in scope departments.  Consultation with UNISON is also ongoing.  

 Co-location of Business Intelligence team, and Communications department planned for February.  Vetting 
outcomes and Co-location Agreements required prior to co-location date.   

 
Estates  

 

 Work on the following areas is now expected to be completed by August: 
 Chief Officer Suite 
 Reception  
 Car Park  
 Refreshment areas.  

 Space planning for a combined Fire and Police stores is ongoing.  

 Ongoing discussions with BAM regarding the Code Book.  

 Overall budget costs to continue to be reviewed and costs from BAM scrutinised. 

 Meeting with BAM SPV & BAM planned to discuss HQ programme and review their tender information. 
 
  ICT  
 

 Joint department went live on 1st November and service desk now taking calls for both Police and Fire. 
Monthly service review meetings have been arranged. 

 Fire estates co-located week commencing 7th November successfully, although some ‘lessons learned’ need to 
be captured. 

 Data centre hardware delivered and racked at Clemonds Hey. Once equipment is configured, the migration of 
systems and services will begin in the New Year with a target completion date of 31st March 2017. 

 Action for Fire to review the service level agreements and ensure they meet the expectations of the service. 

 Installation and configuration of the data centre hardware to be completed. 

Page 42



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

 Network configuration to be completed to allow shared network connectivity between Sadler Road & 
Clemonds Hey for CFRS. 

 Draft plans to be produced for system migration to the new infrastructure. 
 
Communications and Stakeholder Engagement  
 

 Continuing Change Champion Meetings which will now focus on promoting the updated tranche timetable as 
well providing an open forum for general discussions. 

 Three ‘Drop In’ events have taken place. Two of these at Sadler Road and one at Clemonds Hey. Everyone who 
gave feedback after the first event rated it as Good or Excellent. Data is still being collated for the other events.  
The new style, more interactive, Blue Light Champions continue to be effective.  

 Information has been shared with staff about Workshops remaining at Sadler Road.  

 Work was done within fire to communicate the vetting procedures to staff.   

 Internal publicity drive needs to take place to highlight revised transfer dates once they have been signed off. 

 Revised Internal Communication timetable will be produced covering January to March. 

 Will start to gather information from departments about any practical changes staff need to be aware of prior 
to the transfer of departments to Clemonds Hey. 

 
Information Management  
 

 Initial investigations into impact on existing data sharing arrangements, in particular use of Exeter data to 
target home safety assessments. 

 Investigated options to assist Finance with cleansing of their network drive. 

 Review of information management guidance completed.  

 Catch up meetings with HR, Finance, Legal are planned.  

 Information management guidance to be published. 

 Fire onboarding to Multi Force Shared Service. 

 MFSS have developed a high level technical implementation project plan which was presented at the 
programme board at the end of December ’16.  Meeting planned in January to review the technical 
implementation plan to better understand where Fire will be involved.  

 Business change plan to be developed to compliment the technical implementation plan. 

 Key design workshops have started. 

 Will continue to assist MFSS to plan and schedule the 2nd and 3rd round Sprint workshops. 

 Fire to recruit a Data Migration lead – someone with experience and a good technical understanding of the 
process. 

 

  

Page 43



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

 

1280 PROGRAMME: COMPLEX DEPENDENCIES 

PROGRAMME 
SPONSOR 

Mark Cashin PROGRAMME MANAGER Mike Anderson 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

 

 In Quarter 3 we have been strengthening the monitoring arrangements for HSAs and referral onto youth 
intervention processes. 

 The Service has been mainstreaming programme work and reviewing delivery methodology in light of recent 
staff changes and restructuring.  

 In 16/17 the Service has recorded 213 home fire safety visits to shortlisted households but is promoting the 
completion of home fire safety visits in ALL shortlisted households in each local authority area. 

 In Warrington and Cheshire East we have no embedded staff at this time and have made available to each area 
our process for making referrals via our 24/7 call handling service. 

 Work has commenced on scoping the CFRS data feeds to go into the Complex Dependencies Unit data hub 
project. 

 A closedown report will be submitted in Quarter 4. 

 

OTHER IRMP PROJECTS 

1241 Firefighters Apprenticeship Scheme Cohort One 

Project Sponsor Andrea Harvey 

Project Manager Lynne Roberts 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

 

 All 11 apprentices successfully completed the Princes Trust Programme and commenced their 3 week induction 
programme on 5.12.16. As part of their induction programme, they undertook training in being an Advocate, 
Safe & Well visits, Road Safety, Safeguarding, PTSD awareness, Time Management, Conflict Management, 
Personal Resilience, Maximising Personal Impact, driver familiarisation and mandatory e-learning. 

 Each apprentice has been allocated a placement in Prevention which commenced on 03.01.17 initially for 12 
weeks before they commence operational training. Feedback from Prevention regarding the placements has 
been positive so far. The apprentices will return to Headquarters for one day every two weeks for workshops 
where they will complete their assessment materials.  

Page 44



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1494 Firefighters Apprenticeship Scheme Cohort Two 

Project Sponsor Andrea Harvey 

Project Manager Lynne Roberts 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

Project 
initiation 

 
 

 Recruitment timescales have been finalised and a meeting has been held with E & D Officer regarding a Positive 
Action Plan for the campaign.  

 Amendments have been made to the recruitment brochure and has been ordered. Apprentice Coordinator is 
attending a Careers Fair in Warrington on 16.02.17 with further events been booked in.  

 The Apprentice schedule is being considered alongside the schedule for cohort 1 to ensure that up to 23 
apprentices can be accommodated at any one time.  

 The risks associated with obtaining funding for the Princes Trust programme & the Apprenticeship have been 
identified and the budget has been forecast based on funding not being obtained. Staff resource risks are being 
accounted for in the programme scheduling and recruitment planning. 
 

1058 Sprinkler Campaign 

Project Sponsor Mark Cashin 

Project Manager Simon Gibbins 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

 

 Meeting being arranged with Leader of Warrington Borough Council and Head of Protection to progress the 
sprinkler agenda. 

 Office and member sprinkler group meetings continue with local lobbying continuing where opportunities for 
promotion of the benefits of sprinklers are identified through the planning application process. 
 

 

  

Page 45



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1279 EMERGENCY RESPONSE PROGRAMME (ERP1) 

PROGRAMME SPONSOR Mark Cashin PROGRAMME MANAGER Alex Waller 

1167 Penketh Fire Station 

Project Sponsor Alex Waller 

Project Manager Lynsey McVay 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

IT are working with providers to resolve delays. 

 
Current issues yet to be completed are: 

 Optical fibre- work being carried out by external contractors to clear the conduit to the BT green box (150m). 
Updata have given a date for install of cable of 31/1/17. 

 Landline not connected to admin hub or station. 

 Several extension numbers outstanding. 
 
Operational 

 Wholetime (WT) crews occupied the station on the 11th January with appliance moving from Warrington 

 On-Call crews went live on the 12th January utilising ex Widnes appliance, (additionally they provided cover on 
the 11th for 4 hours to cover appliance movements) 

 WT Crews have had no issues and are familiarising themselves with new station and area 

 WT targets, Home Safety Assessments/Site Specific Risk Information/training etc. have been set and crews 
planning workload as normal 

  
Facilities 

 No major issues identified, snagging list being worked through. 

 Full occupation of the station expected to identify some issues, however external area wide power cut, 
confirmed all backup systems worked well.  
 

On-Call (OC) 

 8 personnel will be undertaking their Quarter 1 assessment in March with all other Quarterly dates identified. 

 Availability gap analysis identified skill sets of Incident Command Assured and driver, courses being sought for 
each. 

Break-In 

 Police currently investigating, SM has details of officers dealing with the case. 

 Door replacement ordered, secured in the interim. 
 
Official Opening  

 Comms currently organising event on the 2nd February 

 On Call and Whole Time crews will be providing Ops demonstration 
UPDATE: Penketh Fire Station was officially opened by the Lord Lieutenant of Cheshire; David Briggs MBE on Thursday 
2nd February in front of an audience of local councillors, Cheshire Fire Authority members, invited guests and children 
from St Vincent's Primary School. 

Page 46



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1179 Lymm Fire Station 

Project Sponsor Alex Waller 

Project Manager Lynsey McVay (Mike Clark) 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

 

 
 
 
 

All staff have been appointed to Lymm and transitional arrangements have been implemented to cover the period up to 
the go live date in April/May 2017.  This includes operating Stockton Heath as a wholetime station. 
 
Aerial Ladder Platform (ALP) 
ALP instructors and operators have been trained and further training is required during the next two months in 
preparation for the go live date. 
 
Animal Rescue (AR) 
4 Lymm personnel have attended the Fire Service College 2 day course in December and there is an additional course 
being run week commencing 20th February 2017. 16 personnel require this training over the next few months.  If courses 
are cancelled or people are unable to attend, there is a chance that we could have insufficient AR capability on certain 
Watch’s to facilitate a response when Lymm goes live. Bollington will be available subject to on call availability. 
 
Swift Water Rescue 
A number of personnel are already swift water trained and discussions will be held with training to get the additional 
personnel qualified before April (7 in total). 
 
Technical Rescue (TR) 
All personnel apart from two have completed the TR operator’s course. Discussions will be held with Knutsford TR 
Instructors with regards planning an in house course to train the additional two people.   All Personnel will be measured 
up for personal issue PPE in regards to harness, gloves and overalls during training sessions at Knutsford in January so 
that the kit can be ordered and personnel will then upskill and maintain competence in preparation for going live at 
Lymm in April.    To support training and development Stockton Heath Appliance will shadow Knutsford at all TR incidents 
for the next few months. 
 
Station Performance 
The set up of a T – drive for Lymm and some of the admin requirements has commenced and meetings with the clerical 
staff have been taking place so that systems can be set up and put in place well before the live date.  This will provide a 
platform to capture information and be accessible for Lymm personnel.  
 
Due to the amount of initial training courses crews are required to attend and the subsequent ongoing training 
requirement to embed these new skills, concerns have been raised about the impact of this on station performance 
more specifically in relation to HSA targets and potentially ‘training overload’ in relation to the retention of all of the new 
training / information, as well as maintaining current skills. It has been explained to crews that all targets will remain 
during this period, however, this will be monitored closely.  
 
Station Fit Out 
A Meeting is planned for the 31st Jan to discuss the fitting out and use of rooms at Lymm.   
 

Page 47



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

Other work to be completed/ongoing: 

 The Station Risk Footprint needs to be created identifying all of the Site Specific Risk Information to be 

completed by Lymm as well as reducing the footprints for Stockton Heath and Knutsford. 

 Station Management Framework (SMF) needs to be created 

 Firecore needs to be updated – Site Specific Risk Information, hydrants etc. 

 Service Training Forecast (STF) – PDR pro 

 Business Continuity Plan 

 Risk Assessments – Workplace 

 Fire Risk Assessment 

1178 Safety Centre 

Project Sponsor  Nick Evans 

Project Manager Mark Shone 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

Construction & Fit Out 

 Primary construction work progressing about two weeks behind schedule, now due for completion March 20th. 
Costed proposal for fit out received from Paragon Creative. Meeting to discuss costings and project management 
issues and to receive assurance on project moving forward set for January 17th 2016. 

 Regular meetings are taking place with Paragon to ensure budget, quality & progress remain on track. 
 
Partnerships 

 Partnership agreements with SP Energy Networks, for electrical scenario and sponsorship of volunteer scheme, and 
Changing Lives in Cheshire for furnishing of the homezone now signed. Final discussions with Tesco and Network Rail 
underway, ahead of fit out week commencing 6th March 2017.  

 
Programme Development 

 More than 2,600 children and young people now booked to attend from September 2017. Further proactive PR of 
bookings on hold until Paragon issue resolved. Safer Cheshire Ltd being held in abeyance pending further paper to 
Fire Authority. Soundings from last Planning Day were to retain control of the centre and discontinue work towards 
independent charity status.  

 
Staffing 

 Volunteer recruitment underway, with 10 prospective rangers in the pipeline. A new Support officer has been 
appointed from January 3rd 2017. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1180 Powey Lane 

Project Sponsor Alex Waller 

Project Manager Steve Barnes (Paul Watts) 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

 New station operational from 11 January. 

 Both the primary & secondary network links have been be completed, so from IT perspective the station is 

complete. Live testing has been completed whilst 4g network was available. Further testing will be undertaken 

on the 5th January utilising fire appliance Mobile Data Terminal and station ends. 

 The station has still some snagging issues which are being worked through. However, none of the snagging 

identified has delayed operational redeployment to the station. All full network capability has been established 

at the station. Station familiarisation will be undertaken with operational personnel on their first shift.  

1176 Knutsford 

Project Sponsor Alex Waller 

Project Manager Leon Parkes 

Previous 

status 

Current 

status 

Mitigating steps 

(where status is red or amber) 

  

 

 

 

 The new on call team at Knutsford remains on track to commence operationally once Lymm opens.  

 The team consists of 7 wholetime staff, two crew managers who have now been appointed. The watch manager post 

remains vacant and the job advertisement will be recirculated. 

 Four new On-Call firefighters have been recruited. Unfortunately one has resigned from an oncall role as a result of 

changing jobs. 

 We currently have 2 potential candidates in the final stages of the On Call recruitment process. We also have a 

request for transfer for one competent on call firefighter into Knutsford. This brings the total to a potential 13 over 

the coming months. 

 In addition to this we are planning on advertising the positions for OC FF's at Knutsford again externally/nationally 

with the potential to acquire relocation expenses as part of the process.  

 During December several recruitment activities took place, one initiative was HR staff and Knutsford FF's in the area 

speaking to local residents directly in addition to the local recruitment banner. During the same period individual 

letters were sent to approximately 65 hand picked local employers within the 5 minute response area asking to 

inform their staff, display a recruitment poster on their notice boards and to highlight the benefits and rewards to 

the business of allowing its staff to become an On call FF in addition to their primary role.  

Page 49



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1089 Crewe 

Project Sponsor Alex Waller 

Project Manager Leon Parkes (Stephen McCormick) 

Previous 

status 

Current 

status 

Mitigating steps 

(where status is red or amber) 

  

The Go live date for the second pump to move to on-call has been reviewed and revised due 

to progress with recruiting new on call staff. The Go live date is now 1st April 2019. 

 

The team have implemented new approaches and these are producing results: 

 3 FF’s already recruited and at different stages of their development (1 doing quarterly assessments, 2 finishing 

off initial courses, BA, RTC etc.) 

 2 FF’s who have passed their Mod 1 course last week  

 1 FF due to commence Mod 1 in January 2017 (weekend course) 

 1 FF who has been transferred from Alsager to Crewe following house move (He is in the process of working 

towards Units 3, 4 and 5 of his competency portfolio). 

That amounts to 7 firefighters.  On top of this a further 3 applications have been sifted for the June course and the 

candidates are in the process of being invited to written test stage.  One of these is a current cadet at Crewe FS. 

The application for the WM and CM position, which previously attracted no interest, will be readvertised in January 

locally and nationally. 

A further door to door recruitment campaign will be undertaken in early March on and around the Sydney Road area of 

Crewe with a potential 1500 properties within the target area. 

Still scoping the potential for a current O/C FF who works at Winsford (day time only, covering from primary 

employment) picking up the WM/CM position as he lives within the 5 minute catchment.  This will bring the team total 

to 11. Further recruitment activities are planned over the next period. To achieve the revised go live date, we need to 

have recruited 15 FF including 1 WM & 2 CM by September 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 50



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1092 Ellesmere Port 

Project Sponsor Alex Waller 

Project Manager Steve Barnes (Anthony Jones) 

Previous 

status 

Current 

status 

Mitigating steps 

(where status is red or amber) 

  

The Go live date for the second pump to move to on-call has been reviewed and revised due 

to progress with recruiting new on call staff. The Go live date is now 1st April 2019. 

 

 

The recent drive is producing positive results: 

 Currently the team consists of 1 WM, 1 CM who are both full time on call officers.  In addition there are two on call  

FF who have passed their quarter three assessment and have their quarter four assessment in March.  

 

 The watch management team, supported by HR, delivered an on call awareness day on the 10th December. The 

team targeted wards within the catchment area by knocking on doors and seeking applicant to attend the awareness 

day. This was based on the success elsewhere of direct engagement as opposed to just leaflet/mail dropping. Comms 

team created a social media campaign to advertise the event which linked in with CWAC and Plus Dane housing who 

are large employers in the area 

 

 Following the recruitment drive and other activities we had 5 applications for the June 2017 course. Sifting has taken 

place.  

 

 Two former FF who left their on call role now wish to return and are being interviewed on 11th Jan to assess 

suitability. There have also been several other interested parties who are planning to attend drill to see the on call 

watch management team to discuss joining. If all the above is successful we could be near double figures for the 

team within six months.  

 

 Therefore the on call total at Ellesmere Port will potentially be 11 by the end of the initial training course in June. 

 

 Further recruitment activities are planned over the next period. To achieve the revised go live date, we need to have 

recruited 15 FF including 1 WM & 2 CM by September 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1276 EMERGENCY RESPONSE PROGRAMME (ERP2) 

PROGRAMME SPONSOR Mark Cashin PROGRAMME MANAGER Alex Waller  

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

 
Programme/Staffing 
The 2016 Appointment and Redeployment Process was completed in November 2016.  All at risk staff and new starts 
have been written to confirming finish and start dates. This will enable the transition to the ERP1 new stations to take 
effect on 11th January 2017.    
 
There will be temporary transitional arrangements in place at Stockton Heath (Wholetime shift station 4 watches of 5 + 2 
staff day crewed for ALP) until the new build at Lymm is completed, expected in April 2017. 
 
The Watch Manager B Role and Responsibilities, Pay and Reward Principles of Agreement document has been agreed 
and signed off by CFRS, FBU and FOA on the 29th September 2016.  Competent Watch Managers have been rostered off 
pattern for 4 shifts each in January 2017 in line with the agreement. Development of this programme continues. 
 
An SM will take up a post in ERP2/On Call Support Officer from February 2017. 
 
 

1300 Review of Station Manager Flexi Duty System (FDS) 

Project Sponsor Mark Cashin 

Project Manager Alex Waller (Andy Royle) 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

 
 
 
 

 

 

 Following further consultation with the representative bodies it has been agreed that the implementation date 
for the Station Manager New Flexible Duty System has been deferred until the 1st February 2017.  As a result of 
this it has been necessary to extend the existing rota pattern into January 2017 and to maintain the existing 
cover groups.  The cover groups will remain the same and officers have been advised that any temporary 
postings ensure with their line manager that they have a temporary extension form in place until the 1st 
February.  Officers continue to choose leave on the new rota sheets. All leave booked for the month of January 
on the new rota sheet has now been transferred to the interim rota and officers have been advised to check that 
their leave requirement for January 17 have been met. The duty SM group for Jan 17 will be Group 1 and the 
OPA hub will send the interim rota to NWFC for January. 

 

Page 52



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

The timeline for implementation is as follows: 
 
January 3rd – 5th                Provision of management response to rep bodies collective agreement queries. 
January 6th                          AM Alex Waller meeting to brief SM FDS Officers  
January 11th                        JCNP meeting final sign off of new SM FDS Agreement 
Feb 1st                                  Commence new SM FDS Duty System. 
 

 Agreement was reached in regard to the content of the SM FDS Collective Agreement.  Slight changes to be 
made to the document prior to 13th Jan 2017.  The amended document will be circulated to the representative 
bodies on the 13th Jan 2017 for hard copy sign off. 

1301 Review of Station Management Structures 

Project Sponsor Mark Cashin 

Project Manager Alex Waller (Andy Royle) 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

 The Watch Manager B Role and Responsibilities, Pay and Reward Principles of Agreement document has been 
agreed and signed off by CFRS, FBU and FOA on the 29th September 2016.  This has now been implemented and 
the competent Watch Managers on wholetime stations have been rostered off pattern for 4 shifts each in 
January 2017.  A workshop with the WM's will be undertaken in January to development this programme, 
related to the attendance at special training events, development of audit programme and future rostering of 
WM's. 

1302 Review of On Call Duty System 

Project Sponsor Mark Cashin 

Project Manager Alex Waller 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

 
 

 On-Call Availability Reward Scheme (OCARS) is currently in its pilot period with the first payment due to be 

awarded in the February 2017 for the period October to December 2016. (25% of the annual award). Payment is 

be based on a number of criteria with the main two being the appliance performance exceeding 85% and 

individual’s contractual performance being met.  A monthly reporting system has been established.  This includes 

team and individual performance. 

 On the 1st January 2017 the second OCARS payment period will begin for another 3 months, which will allow 

those stations who did not meet the 85% or more standard at the end of December to have another opportunity 

and also allow a 6 month evaluation of the scheme to be undertaken before roll out.  The overall On Call 

availability has increased since the introduction of OCARS. 

Page 53



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1303 Review of Special Appliances and Crewing arrangements 

Project Sponsor Mark Cashin 

Project Manager Alex Waller (Andy Royle) 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

 
 
 

 

 A review of the CFRS Swift Water Rescue Technician deployments has been undertaken and it is recommended 

that a new PDA post 11th January to certain water rescue incident types. This takes account of the expansion of 

the SWRT role across a number of stations. 

 Information has been provided to David Rutley MP Macclesfield and to a representative at AstraZeneca 

Macclesfield in relation to the IRMP proposals to remove the aerial appliance at Macclesfield. The consultation 

period remains open and we will consider the feedback at he close of the consultation period. 

 

1318 Cardiac Arrest Response Project 

Project Sponsor Mark Cashin 

Project Manager Alex Waller (Stewart Forshaw) 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

 

 
 

 

 A funding bid was submitted to secure the funding for the rollout of cardiac arrest to all stations should this be 

decided following February’s formal evaluation of the pilot project. 

 

 The meeting of the Joint Oversight & Scrutiny Group was held on the 4th January 2017. During the meeting the 

Terms Of Reference (TOR) for the group was agreed and the Memorandum Of Understanding was updated to 

reflect changes following a revision of the GMFRS document. 

 

 The performance of response by CFRS was presented to the group for November and December identifying that 

up to 50% of Red1 calls in the trial station areas are still not being passed to NWFC from NWAS Emergency 

Operational Centre. Though this was an improvement during November compared to previous months it was 

agreed that it was still below the groups expectations and would require further investigation by the group. 

Additional data on travel times will also be included in the performance review in the future to measure the 

effectiveness of response.  

 

 At the conclusion of the meeting the Cheshire FBU Secretary notified the group that he will be instructing FBU 
members to stop attending cardiac incidents as of the 28th February 2017 when the NJC trial ends. It was 
therefore agreed that the NW FRS's and TU's should meet during early February to discuss this issue and also the 
outcome of the NJC evaluation or extension of the trial if the report is not published by the deadline date. 

 

Page 54



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1110 ON CALL RECRUITMENT 

PROGRAMME SPONSOR Andrea Harvey PROGRAMME MANAGER Steve Barnes 

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  

The project group has been reformed, who will be focusing on the application & training 

process for new on call firefighters and increasing recruitment activity. 

Programme Update 
 

 Full complement recruited for Penketh, the team went live on 11 January 2016. A large majority of the new team 
have had their quarterly assessments brought forward because of the extra training and work they have been 
putting in and in order to meet their FF3, FF4 and FF5 deadline dates.   

 Full complement recruited for Alsager.  The cohort have responded to dozens of incidents as shadow pump and 
are on track to go live from April 2017. 

 Significant improvements to numbers recruited at Crewe and Ellesmere Port.  Both stations are on track to have 
11 staff after the initial recruit course in June 2017.  Further recruitment events planned to increase this further. 
Ellesmere Port WM and CM recruited and following recent activity a further 5 applicants are in the process of 
being recruited. Crewe currently have 3 new recruits starting in January 2017 and there are 3 further expressions 
of interest in scope.  Further recruitment taster events being planned for early 2017 in all locations. 

 A door to door campaign was undertaken in Knutsford in December which generated 7 further expressions of 
interest.   

 Currently scoping new approach to on call recruitment and initial training course.  This would mean that each 
month there would be one initial course (MOD1) and 1 session for the written and practical tests.  The aim being 
to provide more and regular opportunities for new candidates. 

 

 

1308 Expanding Safe & Well Visits 

PROJECT SPONSOR Mark Cashin PROJECT MANAGER Mike Larking  

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

  
 

Programme Update 
 

 NHS England IG have now given final sign-off for the legal Agreement and supporting documents for Safe and 
Well.  

 All Cheshire Directors of Public Health signed the legal Agreement on 16 December. This means we can now 
consider going live and implementing Safe and Well 

 Project team met on 5 January and agreed Phase 1 would go live on 1 February. Comms will coordinate press 
and media releases, and Green Bulletin drafted and with HoD for approval. E&D will issue a separate Green 
Bulletin. 

 

Page 55



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

1313 EMERGENCY SERVICES MOBILE COMMUNICATION PROGRAMME 

PROJECT SPONSOR Mark Cashin PROJECT MANAGER Paul Walmsley  

Previous 
status 

Current 
status 

Mitigating steps 
(where status is red or amber) 

 

 
 
 

 

Programme Update 
 

 

 A revised plan (v.06) from the programme has been published for comment and feedback. As with previous plans 
there are issues with interdependencies and sequencing misnomers. There is a regional meeting this month to 
discuss and feedback to the Centre.  
 

 A series of user engagement workshops are planned for the first half of the year around devices both handheld 
and vehicle. A number of risks have been added to the log but they are classed as medium or low risk. 
 

 There will be an internal meeting on the 12th January to brief stakeholders on, the current position and activity 
expected for 2017.  

 

 

LESSONS LEARNED THIS PERIOD 

CPS REF PROJECT LESSON LEARNED DETAIL 

No lessons to report for this period. 

 

RESOURCE PROFILE THIS PERIOD 

RESOURCE PROJECT RESOURCE DETAIL (from Resource Report) 

No significant resource issues to report for this period. 

 

Page 56



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

RISK AND ISSUE MANAGEMENT 

REF RISK DETAIL RISK OWNER 
RISK 

SCORE 
PROGRESS UPDATE 

ON CALL RECRUITMENT: 1089 CREWE AND 1092 ELLESMERE PORT 

862 

Crewe and Ellesmere 
Port On-call 
recruitment: 
Not being able to 
recruit the 1X WM, 2 
x CM and 12 FF for 
the On Call pumps at 
Crewe and Ellesmere 
Port. 

Service 
Delivery 

 
10 

 

 Risk reviewed by the Project Managers.  Risk score 
has been reduced to 10.   
 
Due to slow progress with recruitment at Crewe & 
Ellesmere Port the go live date for the on call pump 
has been reviewed and revised to April 2019. 
 
There are now potentially 11 on call staff at both 
Crewe & Ellesmere Port. Therefore the risk has now 
reduced however to achieve the revised go live date it 
is critical that we will have recruited 15 FF including 1 
WM & 2 CM by September 2017. 

1058 SPRINKLER CAMPAIGN 

889 

Lack of commitment 
from housing 
providers to fit 
sprinklers:  
As a result of the 
austerity measures 
there is a risk that 
RSL's are unable to 
commit to the 
sprinkler system 
programme. 

Protection and 
Organisational 
Development 

 
16 

 
 

Risk reviewed by the Project Manager: Score still 
considered current.  

1226 BLUE LIGHT COLLABORATION PROGRAMME 

943 

Managing Resource 
Capacity through 
transition of BLC: 
As a result of 
delivering the Blue 
Light Collaboration 
Programme there is 
a risk that CFRS key 
staff and corporate 
knowledge may not 
be retained during 
transition period. 
 
 
 
 
 

Legal & 
Democractic 
Services 

 
 

20 
 
 

The risk owner is currently reviewing this risk in terms 
of occurrence and mitigation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 57



Report Submitted to  
Performance & Programme Board  

on 23 January 2017 

  
        Author: Democratic Services Manager  

  Data taken from CPS on 12th January 2017 
 

 

 

Action or Decision required by Programme Board 

 
 
Nothing to report at this time. 

 

 

 

 

  

   

  
 
 
 

1178 SAFETY CENTRE 

955 

Failure to recruit 
sufficient numbers of 
Safety Central 
volunteer rangers 

Prevention 

 
12 

Risk reviewed by Project Manager: 
A total of 10 prospective rangers currently in 
application pipeline. Focus on recruiting from Lymm 
and the surrounding area seems to be key and will be 
the focus of further recruitment activity in 2017. On 
this basis, likelihood of risk reduced to medium. 

Page 58



 

 CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY 

MEETING OF: PERFORMANCE & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
DATE: 1ST MARCH 2017
REPORT OF: HEAD OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES
AUTHOR: CHRIS ASTALL 
______________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: 2016-17 QUARTER 3 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 
PROGRESS REPORT

______________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose of Report 

1. To present an update on Quarter 3 (Q3) progress made in respect of the 2016-
17 Internal Audit Plan.

Recommended: That

[1]   Members review and note the attached report (Appendix 1); and

[2] Members highlight any specific audit findings for which they would like 
further detail. 

Background 

2. Internal auditing is an assurance function that primarily provides an independent 
and objective opinion to the Authority on the organisation’s control environment.
 

3. Findings and recommendations made by MIAA during the course of an audit are 
presented formally in a report to the relevant Heads of Department. Each 
recommendation is prioritised as Critical, High, Medium, or Low to reflect the 
assessment of risk associated with any identified control weakness. It is a 
management responsibility to respond to the recommendations and identify 
actions that can be taken to address any issues. 

4. Audit Terms of Reference (ToR) and resulting audit reports are reviewed and 
approved by senior officers with any substantial risks capable of being referred 
to the Risk Management Board (RMB) where necessary. The Performance & 
Overview Committee receives updates on a quarterly basis for the purpose of 
monitoring and scrutiny of progress against the Internal Audit Plan. 

5. All recommendations are populated on the Service’s Cheshire Planning System 
(CPS) to allow for monitoring and tracking of delivery and progress.  All 
recommendations are reviewed during the year by the Policy Approval Group 
and independently assessed by MIAA during the annual ‘follow-up’ audit. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



 

Information

6. The Internal Audit Progress report, attached as Appendix 1, has been prepared 
by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA) who will be attending the meeting.

Reviews completed since last report to P&O Committee

7. Since the previous meeting of the Performance and Overview Committee the 
following reviews have been completed by MIAA 

 Treasury Management – High Assurance 
 Cash and Bank – Significant Assurance
 Payroll – Significant Assurance
 Station Management Framework – Significant Assurance
 On Call Availability – Significant Assurance

Work in Progress 2016-17

8. There has been substantial activity aligned to the 2016-17 Internal Audit Plan 
during Q3 with the following work in progress. 

 Site Specific Risk Information
 National Fraud Initiative

Request for audit plan Changes

9. The contingency element of the Internal Audit Plan allows the flexibility to 
respond to any changes in risk profile throughout the financial year. There have 
been no requests for change during the Quarter 3 reporting period. However, 
some of the audits have been rescheduled based on risk and priority.

 Financial Implications 

10. Internal audit is an outsourced service funded from base budget. Any additional 
financial implications arising from internal audit recommendations are assessed 
individually as part of the management response to final audit reports. 

Legal Implications 

11.   There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. 

Equality & Diversity Implications 

12. There are no differential impacts on any particular section of the community 
arising from this report. 

Environmental Implications 

13. There are no specific impacts on the environment arising from this report. 

Page 60



Internal Audit Progress Report 

Performance and Overview Committee 

(1st March 2017) 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire & Rescue Service 

Appendix 1 to Item 5 
Performance and Overview Committee 

1 March 2017

Page 61



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 1 

 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction 

2. Key Messages for Committee Attention 

3. Work in progress 

 

Appendix A: Risk Classification and Assurance Levels  

Appendix B: Contract Performance  

Appendix C: Critical / High Level Risk Recommendations 

Page 62



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 2 

1. Introduction 

This progress report provides an update to the Performance and Overview Committee 

in respect of the assurances, key issues and progress made in respect of the 2016/17 

Audit Plan.  Comprehensive reports detailing findings, recommendations and agreed 

actions are provided to the organisation, and are available to Committee Members on 

request.  In addition, a consolidated follow up position is reported on a periodic basis 

to the Performance and Overview Committee. 

 

2. Key Messages for Committee Attention 

Since the previous meeting of the Performance and Overview Committee we have 

completed the following reviews: - 

 Treasury Management – High Assurance 

 Cash and Bank – Significant Assurance 

 Payroll – Significant Assurance 

 Station Management Framework – Significant Assurance 

 On Call Availability – Significant Assurance 

The table below identifies the key areas from that work and the actions to be 

delivered by management.  Section 3 of the report provides details of the work in 

progress.  Appendix A provides the categorisation of assurance levels and risk ratings 

and Appendix B confirms performance against plan for 2016/17.  Details of High Level 

actions are provided in Appendix C. 

Title Assurance Level 

 

Recommendations 

 

Combined Financial Systems: 

 Treasury Management 

 Cash and Bank 

 Payroll 

 

High 

Significant 

Significant 

   0 x Critical 

   0 x High 

 1 x Medium 

 3 x Low 

Objective: To provide assurance on the design and operation of the key controls 

within Treasury Management, Cash and Bank and Payroll. 

Summary: Overall, from the testing undertaken the key controls were found to be 

operating effectively with no significant issues identified.  Some areas for 

enhancement were identified and these are detailed below. 

Page 63



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 3 

 

Key areas agreed for action (due to be completed by March 2017): 

One Medium recommendation to be actioned focused on: - 

 Cash and Bank Review - The statements for the Standard Life Investment 

Liquidity Fund should be signed and dated to evidence that it is being 

regularly reconciled. This exercise should be undertaken and monitored by two 

separate individuals with appropriate authority to ensure appropriate 

segregation of duties.’ 

Three low recommendations to be actioned focused on the frequency of formalised 

performance meetings with the payroll provider, to review procedures in relation to 

raising debtors to ensure that they remain effective and efficient, communicate with 

other departments where necessary, and ensuring the supporting documentation for 

BACS payments is attached in all cases. 

Executive/ Management Sponsor: Head of Finance 

Title Assurance Level 

 

Recommendations 

 

Station Management 

Framework 

Significant    0 x Critical 

   0 x High 

 0 x Medium 

 4 x Low 

Background: The Station Management Framework is a system through which 

managers can assess, plan, manage and monitor station activity and performance, and 

ensure a quality approach to maintaining operational competence. The Framework is 

intended to provide overarching direction that delivers a clear view of the plans, 

strategies and policies required to provide an efficient safe and effective Service 

Delivery department. 

The Framework requires relevant managers working the Wholetime Duty System 

(WDS), Day Crewing Duty System (DCS), Nucleus Duty System (NDS), and On Call 

Firefighter Duty System (OCS) to undertake audits of compliance against specified 

standards on a periodic basis to ensure the stations are operating in accordance with 

the Framework. Therefore, it places a requirement on all staff to take responsibility for 

adhering to the specified standards and aims to embed a culture of rigour into all 

areas of station management and performance management. 

Objective: To provide assurance on the effectiveness of the controls and processes in 

place at a local level for compliance with the maintenance and operational 

Page 64



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 4 

preparedness parts of the Station Management Framework. 

Summary: The Station Management Framework (SMF) involves good management of 

the fire stations, makes people accountable for specified activities and must be 

applied across all sites.  Our review included a visit to four sites that covered each type 

of duty system and confirmed that the activities required to implement the Framework 

is robustly embedded at the stations and crews apply the Framework effectively on a 

day to day basis. These activities ensure compliance with the maintenance and 

operational preparedness parts of the Framework.  

It is acknowledged that the Framework itself is in the process of being reviewed 

corporately and several areas of the Framework are being updated including some of 

the recording templates and how tasks are recorded to maintain strong oversight but 

to identify where enhancements to efficiency could be made. 

The Framework encompasses validating daily and monthly sign off sheets to confirm 

activities have been completed. The sign off sheets are an effective tool for the 

stations to record and demonstrate at a glance how the framework has been applied 

and ensures continuity of service when there is a changeover of crews as any actions 

that need to be carried forward are recorded on the sign off sheets and the station 

handover book. There are robust controls in place to ensure all activities are carried 

out and signed off; however, we identified instances whereby the sign off sheet itself 

had not been signed but a sample check confirmed that there was alternative 

evidence to demonstrate that the underlying activity had been completed. All checks 

that had been completed were clearly visible at all sites and at all times.  Historic 

sheets had been appropriately retained and archived at the end of the year. 

The Framework covers many activities and therefore effective planning procedures are 

required to ensure all activities are completed and are done so on a timely basis. Our 

review confirmed that at the sites tested, effective planning procedures were in place 

and were operating successfully.  

For the activities that are required to take place, the appendix in the Framework 

provides details of the standards to which specific activities must be completed. Our 

review confirmed that the standards had been printed off and were easily accessible at 

all the sites, but in practice as the standards are applied on a daily basis they are not 

necessarily required to be referred to.  

Station specific activities have been identified at the stations visited and included 

within the sign off sheets, however, there were some inconsistencies between the sites 

Page 65



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 5 

on how these had been incorporated onto the sign off sheets.  

The Framework requires some information to be forwarded to Headquarters. Our 

review confirmed that majority of this aspect was completed by staff by having access 

to shared drives and systems with the Headquarters that allowed information to be 

updated directly. Testing confirmed that all activities that had to be forwarded to 

Headquarters had been completed.  

Key areas agreed for action (due to be completed by March 2017): 

Four low recommendations to be actioned focused on crews being reminded of the 

importance of signing off all activities on the sign off sheets, introducing version 

control to ensure consistent use of the latest form, reviewing the process for recording 

missing/defective items, introducing version control for sign off sheets, and ensuring  

On Call Service Specific Information issued by Headquarter and held locally is accurate 

and up to date. 

Executive/ Management Sponsor: Deputy Chief Fire Officer / Head of Service 

Delivery 

Title Assurance Level 

 

Recommendations 

 

On Call Availability Significant    0 x Critical 

   0 x High 

 5 x Medium 

 0 x Low 

Background: Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service has nineteen on call stations across the 

service with eleven of these operating wholly as on call stations and the remaining 

eight connected to a second appliance on the station.  The primary role of the on call 

stations is to respond to incidents and to ensure that an appliance is immediately 

available and ready to respond to incidents with all crew living and/or working within 

five minutes of their designated stations.  Each year on call pumps attend around 20% 

of operational incidents attended by the Service. 

Objective: To assess the effectiveness of the on call availability arrangements in place. 

Summary: The review identified that there have been significant developments with 

regards to on call availability in recent years and that going forward with the initiatives 

in place that this improvement will continue. There are new on call stations with crews 

currently in development and after more firefighters have progressed from 

development to competent phases of training, more appliances will be available for 

operation. 

Page 66



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 6 

The Service has a clear strategy in place which is developed in line with the Authority’s 

Emergency Response Programme (ERP), which is designed to ensure the most efficient 

and cost effective use of its fire stations, engines and staffing systems and 

incorporates on call availability.  The strategy is approved as part of the Integrated 

Risk Management Plan (IRMP) and is overseen by the Head of Service Delivery and 

performance against this is considered by the Performance and Overview Committee. 

The ‘Gartan’ system is a staffing management system used for monitoring the 

availability of on call personnel and the operational resources that they are 

responsible for staffing. It records performance and presents availability in 'real' time, 

which is important to ensure that accurate information is held in order to ensure 

operational attendance can be effectively managed when attendance at an incident 

may be required.  The introduction of ‘Gartan’ has also provided significant 

improvements in efficiency as appliance availability is updated electronically. 

It was noted that the Call Support Manager and Watch Managers review the ‘Gartan’ 

system and on call availability on a daily basis to ensure that the system is being used 

appropriately and updated to show a true and accurate reflection of fire fighter 

availability. Performance information is being used to inform the management of on 

call firefighters however, there is no requirement for On Call Station Managers to 

provide a monthly performance report to the On Call Manager to assist with the 

overall monitoring. 

There is a strong performance and oversight process in place both locally by On Call 

Managers and Watch Managers at station level and through the Head of Service 

Delivery who monitors availability and performance across all stations, through 

quarterly performance monitoring to the Performance and Overview Committee and 

through the Unitary Performance Groups. 

Testing also identified that a the sample of salary payments made to on call 

firefighters payments were correct and authorised and that all retainer fees were paid 

in line with the contracted hours. 

Additional work is required with regards to ensuring that on call firefighters are 

updating their availability on a regular and timely basis, that changes in contracted 

hours are communicated effectively across all relevant departments and managing the 

process for identifying, communicating and resolving breaches consistently. Once the 

new functionality within the ‘Gartan’ system is in use this will assist with the 

monitoring of the service. The Authority would benefit from a standardised approach 

to monitoring across all on call stations and this would assist with the preparation of 

Page 67



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 7 

monthly performance reporting.  

Key areas agreed for action (due to be completed by April 2017): 

Five Medium recommendations to be actioned focused on: - 

 The new functionality in ‘Gartan’ should be implemented as soon as possible to 

further enhance the monitoring of on call availability.  All changes in 

contracted hours should be communicated to the relevant departments on a 

timely basis. This will ensure that any gaps can be identified so that a review of 

availability can be carried out and on call firefighters recruited if required. 

 All on call fire fighters should be reminded of the expectation to update the 

Gartan system with their availability two weeks in advance.  Compliance against 

this requirement should be reported to the On Call Support Manager on a 

monthly basis. 

 As part of the On Call Managers meeting, to review the process for managing 

breaches and informing managers and the other crew members about pump 

availability to ensure a consistent and effective approach across all stations. 

 Monthly performance reports should be prepared for each on call station for 

the attention of the On Call Managers. Reports should detail the performance 

along with any anomalies and performance issues. 

 A standardised approach to monitoring performance and contracted hours of 

on call staff should be introduced across all on call stations to ensure a 

consistent system cross the county. A standardised approach will assist with 

further reporting within the Authority. 

Executive/ Management Sponsor: Deputy Chief Fire Officer / Head of Service 

Delivery 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

P a g e  | 8 

3. Work in Progress 

The following pieces of work are in progress and will be reported to the Committee 

following completion: 

Work In progress 

 Site Specific Risk Information (SSRI) – to provide assurance that the 

Service has an effective process in place to gather, store and disseminate 

Site Specific Risk Information (SSRI).  Fieldwork complete, closedown 

meeting arranged. 

 National Fraud Initiative – to review the data reports provided by the 

Cabinet Office and to investigate any identified discrepancies by providing 

a reason for the match and, where required, make the appropriate 

changes).  Fieldwork in progress. 

 

Request for Audit Plan Changes 

Policy Approval Group approval will be requested for any amendments to the original 

plan and this will be reported to the Performance and Overview Committee to 

facilitate the monitoring process.   There are no proposed amendments to the audit 

plan.

Page 69



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  A  | 1 

Appendix A: Assurance Definitions and Risk Classifications 

Level of 

Assurance 

Description 

High Our work found some low impact control weaknesses which, if addressed 
would improve overall control.  However, these weaknesses do not affect key 
controls and are unlikely to impair the achievement of the objectives of the 
system. Therefore we can conclude that the key controls have been adequately 
designed and are operating effectively to deliver the objectives of the system, 
function or process. 

Significant There are some weaknesses in the design and/or operation of controls which 
could impair the achievement of the objectives of the system, function or 
process. However, either their impact would be minimal or they would be 
unlikely to occur. 

Limited There are weaknesses in the design and / or operation of controls which could 
have a significant impact on the achievement of the key system, function or 
process objectives but should not have a significant impact on the achievement 
of organisational objectives. 

No There are weaknesses in the design and/or operation of controls which [in 
aggregate] have a significant impact on the achievement of key system, 
function or process objectives and may put at risk the achievement of 
organisational objectives. 

 

Risk Rating Assessment Rationale 

Critical Control weakness that could have a significant impact upon, not only the 
system, function or process objectives but also the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives in relation to: 

 the efficient and effective use of resources 
 the safeguarding of assets 
 the preparation of reliable financial and operational information 
 compliance with laws and regulations. 

High Control weakness that has or is likely to have a significant impact upon the 
achievement of key system, function or process objectives. 
This weakness, whilst high impact for the system, function or process does not 
have a significant impact on the achievement of the overall organisation 
objectives. 

Medium Control weakness that: 
 has a low impact on the achievement of the key system, function or 

process objectives; 
 has exposed the system, function or process to a key risk, however the 

likelihood of this risk occurring is low. 

Low Control weakness that does not impact upon the achievement of key system, 
function or process objectives; however implementation of the 
recommendation would improve overall control. 

 

Page 70



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  B  | 1 

Appendix B: Contract Performance 

The primary measure of your internal auditor’s performance is the outputs deriving from work 

undertaken. The plan has also been discussed with lead officers to determine the appropriate timing 

of individual work-streams to accommodate organisational priorities, availability, mandatory 

requirements and external audit views. 

General Performance Indicators 

The following provides some general performance indicator information to support the Committee in 

assessing the performance of Internal Audit. 

Element Status Summary 

Progress against plan Green 
Audit reviews are on track in terms of planned 

completion. 

Timeliness Green 
Generally, reviews are progressing in line with planned 

delivery. 

Qualified Staff Green 

MIAA Audit Staff consist of: 

 65% Qualified (CCAB, IIA etc.) 

 35% Part Qualified 

Quality Green 
MIAA operate systems to ISO Quality Standards. Triennial 

review by External Audit was positive. 

 

Overview of Output Delivery 

REVIEW TITLE PLANNED COMPLETION  ASSURANCE 

LEVEL 

Commentary 

 

Aug  Nov  Mar  May  

High / 

Significant / 

Limited / No 

 

FINANCE & RESOURCES 

Counter Fraud 

Arrangements 
   ●  

Providing Support on 

National Fraud Initiative 

Financial Systems   ●  
High / 

Significant 
Final Reports Issued 

Insurance 

Arrangements 
 ●   Significant Final Report issued 

PERFORMANCE 

Page 71



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  B  | 2 

REVIEW TITLE PLANNED COMPLETION  ASSURANCE 

LEVEL 

Commentary 

 

Aug  Nov  Mar  May  

High / 

Significant / 

Limited / No 

 

On Call 

Availability 
  ●  Significant Final Report Issued 

Partnership 

Arrangements 
   ο  Initial Scoping in Progress 

OPERATIONAL COMPLIANCE 

IT Critical 

Applications 
   ο   

Site Specific Risk 

Information 
  ●   Fieldwork Complete 

Station 

Management 

Framework 

  ●  Significant Final Report Issued 

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND LEGALITY 

ALARM 

Benchmarking 
 ●    Complete 

Statement of 

Assurance 
   ο  Initial Scoping in Progress 

FOLLOW-UP AND CONTINGENCY 

Follow-up  ●  ο  See Follow Up Report 

Contingency       

 Key ο = Planned    ● = In Progress / Complete  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Internal Audit Progress Report 

P&O Committee 1st March 2017 

Cheshire Fire Authority / Fire and Rescue Service 

 

A p p e n d i x  C  | 1 

Appendix C: Critical/ High Risk Recommendations 

There were no high or critical risk recommendations included within the reports. 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE FIRE AUTHORITY

MEETING OF:  PERFORMANCE & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
DATE: 1ST MARCH 2017
REPORT OF: HEAD OF PROTECTION
AUTHOR:  SM COLIN HEYES     
_____________________________________________________________

SUBJECT: ANNUAL BONFIRE PERIOD REPORT 2016
_____________________________________________________________

Purpose of Report

1. To present the Annual Bonfire Period Report for Members’ consideration 
(Appendix 1).  

Recommended That

[1]     the report be noted; and

[2]     the recommendations be supported.

Background

2. The Annual Bonfire Period Report (2016) summarises the preventative and 
operational activities of Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) and 
partners during the bonfire period dated 24th October 2016 to 7th November 
2016 inclusive.

3. This report analyses and evaluates the effectiveness of the joint efforts of 
CFRS and partners so that resources and staff can be deployed more 
effectively in future years.

4. CFRS, local authorities, Cheshire Constabulary and other partners are 
committed to reducing incidents of anti social behaviour (ASB) which affect 
the communities we serve.  The deliberate fire setting which constitutes a 
large part of the ASB during the Bonfire Season has a significant effect on 
our Service target (BV206iii) Secondary Deliberate Fires. 

5. The Protection department will ensure that the recommendations within the 
report are communicated to Unitary Performance Managers and good 
practice is shared when planning Bonfire Period Initiatives in 2017.

Financial Implications

6. The recommendations of the report identify areas with financial implications 
for future years, such as the use of midi appliances where more cost 
effective and efficient deployment of staff and resources will be considered 
for 2017.   

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



Legal Implications

7. The bonfire initiatives are seen as a core function of the Service and there 
are no legal implications in carrying out this work.    

Equality & Diversity Implications

8. There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report.

Environmental Implications

9. It should be recognised that the activities conducted during the bonfire 
period provide a positive contribution to reducing pollution and reducing 
carbon emissions from small deliberate fires.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: NONE

Page 76



 Appendix 1 to Item 5 
Performance and Overview Committee 

1 March 2017 

 
Annual Bonfire Period Report 
2016 
 
 

Page 77



2 
 

CONTENTS 
 
1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Recording of Incidents .................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Pre Planning and Partnership Activity .......................................................................................... 3 

4. Bonfire Removal Schemes and Waste Management ................................................................ 4 

5. Educational Events and Activities ................................................................................................. 5 

6. Diversionary Events, Activities and Enforcement. ...................................................................... 6 

7. Operational Response .................................................................................................................... 7 

8. North West Fire Control .................................................................................................................. 8 

9. Media and Corporate Communications ........................................................................................ 8 

Most popular Tweets, based on reach ............................................................................................... 9 

Most popular Facebook posts, based on reach .................................................................................. 9 

Summary of social media posts on Facebook and Twitter ............................................................... 10 

Most popular social media posts based on reach ............................................................................ 10 

10. Incident Data and Performance Summary .............................................................................. 11 

11. Recommendations ....................................................................................................................... 16 

12. Summary and conclusions ......................................................................................................... 17 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 78



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 

The annual bonfire season represents a period of increased activity for Police and Fire 
& Rescue Services (FRS) in the UK.  As such, plans for limiting deliberate fire activity 
and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) are put in place during this time. 
 
ASB includes the setting of deliberate fires, in addition to nuisance and celebratory 
bonfires.  This places pressure on the resources of Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service 
(the Service) due to an increase in call levels to incidents classed as small deliberate 
fires (SDFs). 
 
The Service and its partners recognise the damage done to communities by ASB 
during the bonfire season.  Significant amounts of time, effort, resources and money 
are expended in an attempt to ensure the safety and well-being of communities, whilst 
allowing and encouraging people to celebrate the season safely.   
 
It is worth noting that 5 fire stations accounted for 82% of all small deliberate fire 
activity recorded during the period. This is explained in greater detail later in this 
report. 
 
In summary, 2016 continues a 5 yr downward trend in deliberate fires in 
Cheshire. There are now 32% fewer incidents of deliberate secondary fires 
attended compared to 5 years ago. The positive effect on the quality of life of the 
residents of Cheshire is difficult to quantify, but is important to recognise. 
 
2. Recording of Incidents 
 
The measurement period for statistical purposes varies each year to reflect the day 
on which bonfire night falls.  The bonfire reporting period 2016 captured data from 
0800hrs 24th October to 0800hrs 7th November (the Bonfire Period). 
 
As there is no specific bonfire reporting category on the Incident Recording System 
(IRS), this report relates to all secondary SDFs.  The reasoning for this is that the 
difference between a bonfire and a pile of rubbish set on fire is a very subjective one 
for crews attending, so the inclusion of all SDFs in this report will continue.  
 
Guidance was detailed in the Green Bulletin, as in previous years, to outline reporting 
parameters during the bonfire period.     
 
Bonfires, allowed to burn as safe celebratory fires, were to be recorded as ‘Good Intent 
false alarm’, instead of fires that required action or controlled burning.  This is 
consistent with recording procedures in other FRSs.  
 
Following the issue of this guidance, there were 43 incidents recorded as Good Intent 
false alarm >> Fire >> Bonfire.     
 
3. Pre Planning and Partnership Activity 
 
Service Delivery Group Managers and Station Managers engaged with local partners 
to plan a variety of interventions and strategies based on local needs and historical  
  

Page 79



4 
 

data. The objectives of these interventions and strategies were as follows: 

 
In previous years, a specific bonfire period strategy has been produced for each local 
authority area, however a review of intelligence suggested a more targeted approach 
would be beneficial, with specific areas being addressed by local groups.  As such, 
strategies were again produced for Ellesmere Port, Winsford, Warrington, and Halton.  
Each of these four local ‘Bonfire Groups’ is attended by the local Station Manager 
and/or the Station Manager responsible for arson reduction. Bonfire activity levels in 
Cheshire East do not warrant the formation of a specific strategy.  SDF activities are 
however addressed at regular local meetings and appropriate interventions are 
planned if necessary. 
 
4. Bonfire Removal Schemes and Waste Management 
 
Cheshire East - the bonfire collection service in Cheshire East is offered by the local 
authority as part of the Streetscene service. Much of this service is delivered by the 
community payback offenders working for the Probation Service.  Additional fly-tipping 
and bonfire removals are provided by Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) - Plus Dane 
in the Congleton area, and Wulvern Housing in Crewe.  These services apply only to 
issues on land belonging to them. 
 
Cheshire West and Chester (CW&C) - the bonfire removal service has been provided 
by Streetscene staff for a number of years, with support from Weaver Vale Housing 
Trust and Plus Dane who also operate an additional collection and clearance service 
on their own land in Winsford and Ellesmere Port.  
 
For the last 5 years, a very proactive stance was taken by CW&C council staff 
regarding ‘fuel’ removal. Wheelie bins and recycling containers left out or abandoned 
were removed by regular patrols in known areas of high fire related ASB activity.  
Enforcement letters are distributed to properties that fail to comply with standing 
instructions regarding domestic waste management, for example where wheelie bins 
were kept permanently on the pavement.  Bonfire removals were once again provided 
by a separate team patrolling known areas of activity based on the Service’s data. 
This additional bonfire removal team is provided for approximately one week each 
year and funded by the local authority.  
 
Halton - the bonfire removal scheme in Halton is well established and provided by 
‘Smiths’, a local contractor.  The scheme is paid for by the RSLs on a pro rata basis 
according to the number of bonfires collected from the land that each owns. Reports 
of unauthorised bonfires are passed from Halton Borough Council (HBC) to the 
contractor who removes the material and disposes of it (recycling where possible).  

Prevention

Education Removal of 'fuel'
Organising 

'diversionary' 
events

Operational 
Response

Local Waste 
Management & 

Enforcement

Page 80



5 
 

Operational crews also communicate directly with the contractor to ensure that bonfire 
debris is removed after fires have been attended.  
 
Warrington - Bonfire removal services in Warrington have historically been provided 
by Warrington Borough Council (WBC), with support from Cheshire Probation Service 
and community payback offenders. Unfortunately that service was not available for 
2016.  A specific bonfire removal service’ was not provided due to a lack of demand 
in previous years. However, the service was dealt with and fast tracked via the 
‘Contact Warrington’ telephone number for members of the public. In addition, 
operational crews were able to communicate directly with the bonfire removal team 
via a dedicated mobile phone.  Targeted arson routes were planned and patrolled by 
operational crews using local data. Any fly-tipping or unlit bonfires found were then 
reported to WBC for removal.  Golden Gates Housing did not provide skips for disposal 
of additional waste. However, they did allow their caretakers to remove waste if 
requested. 
 
Cheshire Police and WBC staff increased patrols for a 10 day period in targeted 
locations to ensure that wheelie bins were being used and stored appropriately.  Those 
staff were provided with the direct line to the ‘Contact Warrington’ service so that 
removal of bonfires could be expedited. 
 
All Areas – Operational crews increased their pre-planned arson route activities in 
2016 enabling them to provide valuable real time information to Streetscene and other 
fuel removal services operating in their local areas.  
 
5. Educational Events and Activities 
 
A more targeted approach to education has been adopted by the Service in recent 
years, and this continued in 2016.  Using local intelligence, educational events were 
planned and delivered in specific locations based on fire related ASB and school 
catchment areas.  Educational events were delivered by the Service’s Prevention 
team and operational staff in partnership with Cheshire Police at a number of schools, 
community centres and other locations.  A consistent message promoting organised 
displays, ASB, and firework safety was delivered by our own staff using a presentation 
developed by Prevention staff.    
 
Separate presentations have been developed for delivery at primary and secondary 
schools. These educational packages were refreshed for 2016, and physical 
resources were delivered to each of the key stations where targeted education was 
scheduled. Operational staff organised and delivered the primary school educational 
visits, in conjunction with Key Stage 2 visits scheduled for the weeks preceding bonfire 
night.   
 
In Halton, 8 primary schools have historically received additional education in all forms 
of fire safety via the Phoenix schools programme.  This gives each watch additional 
contact to allocated schools throughout the year. All 8 Phoenix schools were attended 
this year and the new presentation was delivered by operational crews. 
 
Warrington schools were also targeted very precisely according to known historical 
areas of fire related ASB and bonfire data. The educational sessions at these schools 

Page 81



6 
 

have been developed by a member of operational staff. This intervention will be 
developed as a toolkit an option for use in other areas in 2017. 
 
Secondary school visits were coordinated by Prevention managers and delivered by 
Advocates and Cheshire Police staff.  A total of 14 presentations were completed in 
Ellesmere Port, Winsford, and Halton, to a total audience of more than 3000 young 
people. This is very successful as engagement with secondary schools has 
sometimes been challenging in some areas due to pressures on the school curriculum 
and timetable.     
 
6. Diversionary Events, Activities and Enforcement. 
 
The term Diversionary Events and Activities refers to any activity intended to reduce 
opportunities for fire related ASB and which encourages residents to enjoy the 
celebrations in a safe manner.  These include organised bonfire and firework displays, 
youth work and other events.   
 
Diversionary events vary across the 4 local authority areas and the relevant local 
strategy groups in Warrington, Halton, Ellesmere Port, and Winsford.    There are 
dozens of organised displays held by local pubs, parish councils, PTAs etc.  
Encouraging people to attend organised displays continues to be Service policy, and 
these events are publicised on the Service website when we are notified of them. 
 
Cheshire East - fire related ASB and deliberate fire activity in Cheshire East is at a 
very low level in comparison to other unitaries.  
 
Youth and community groups organise a number of events during the bonfire weekend 
and the preceding half-term school holiday and there were a number of organised 
bonfire and firework events.  Due to relatively low levels of fire related ASB, there is 
little need for partnership activity and the formation of a specific strategy in Cheshire 
East. 
 
Cheshire West and Chester – The key firework events in CWAC are the Lions’ displays 
in Ellesmere Port and Chester. The Chester event at the Roodee is well established, 
and the Lions have staged an event in Ellesmere Port following a request by the 
Service in 2010. The Service did not support these events with funding in 2016.  
 
Northwich and Winsford have similar large local events organised by local charity 
groups, held at local sports stadia, and a further organised display in the Wharton 
area.  These events are well attended by local residents.   
 
The Winsford Bonfire Strategy Group responded to the increase in SDF activity in 
previous years by maintaining diversionary activities for 2015. The Service and local 
groups held Pizza and Smoothie nights for young people within the known areas of 
fire related ASB. The Service also employed the On the Streets team in Wharton, 
however this team were withdrawn due to high levels of more serious crimes around 
‘Mischief Night’ on the 30th October.   
 
Cheshire Police engaged with known previous fire related ASB offenders in Winsford 
and Ellesmere Port during half-term to demonstrate to them that their behaviour was 
not acceptable, and was being monitored.   

Page 82



7 
 

 
Ellesmere Port and Winsford Police again initiated a number of Dispersal Orders on 
bonfire night in response to offences committed in known locations in 2015.   
 
Halton - HBC organises and funds one large firework display, which is always very 
well attended.  This takes place on the bank of the Mersey and Ship Canal to ensure 
a good view from several locations.  The council do not encourage other smaller 
bonfire events to be organised by local groups at this time. 
 
Local youth groups placed outreach workers across targeted locations during the 
Halloween period and on bonfire night. The brief for these youth workers was to 
coordinate distraction activities.  Two community centres were made available as drop 
in centres for residents, attended by police officers, youth workers and Service staff.  
Halton has a known problem on Mischief Night when ASB activity of all types 
increases. 
 
Discounted tickets to the value of £600 for local attractions were purchased, funded in 
part by the Service. These were distributed to young people by local community 
centres and charity projects in return for positive activities.   
 
Warrington (Birchwood and Stockton Heath) - the Warrington Bonfire Strategy group 
has not previously engaged in diversionary events, preferring to concentrate on the 
management of bonfire fuel by removing waste from targeted areas, and schools 
education provided by Service staff.  The WBC Regulatory Services Team is pro-
active in enforcing illegal firework sales and illegal bonfires, and the WBC Community 
Safety team endeavoured to locate and publicise all of the planned organised events 
in the area and encourage residents to attend and enjoy.   
 
7. Operational Response 
 
Targeted Response Vehicles (TRV’s), have been deployed in the busier areas during 
the bonfire period for several years now. Deployment has been varied and the 
additional cost reduced significantly by paying closer attention to planning and limiting 
deployment based on risk and data from previous years.  This has reduced 
deployment costs by approximately £15k each year since 2011.  For 2016, 
deployments were scrutinised and planned carefully; the combined use of historical 
data and the professional expertise of local managers enabled intelligence led timing 
of deployments that varied from area to area.  
 
Availability of TRVs at times of peak activity allows other appliances to be available 
for incidents that may pose a threat to life or property and, it will be recommended that 
this practice continues in future. TRV provision and deployment continued to be a cost 
effective means of maintaining structural appliance availability. 
 
The new Penketh community fire station was used as a base for one TRV in 2016, 
allowing deployment to either Widnes or Warrington dependant on current activity.  A 
further TRV was available in Winsford, and the on-call appliance from Runcorn was 
also deployed and maintained as available in Halton.  This crew based the vehicle 
close to the Jubilee Bridge. A plan to deploy a TRV in Ellesmere Port was unsuccessful 
due to lack of availability of staff.    
 

Page 83



8 
 

8. North West Fire Control 
 
Extensive planning again took place for the 2016 bonfire period in North West Fire 
Control (NWFC).  Prior to 2014, each FRS control had their own methods of dealing 
with expected spate call conditions. This was in addition to separate procedures for 
unlit bonfires, firework incidents, filtering or challenging calls, and mobilising 
procedures. NWFC planning meetings examined and retained best practice already 
in place in previous FRS Controls and evaluated and reviewed the systems adopted 
by NWFC in 2015 with an intention to adopt them as a common practice where 
possible. 
 
Many of the practices adopted across all 4 Services by NWFC were based on 
procedures previously used only in Cheshire. Of particular note is the call challenging 
procedure adopted by NWFC in 2014; this originated in Cheshire and has resulted in 
risk based non attendance to incidents in all NWFC FRS areas.  This call challenge 
has also been adopted by Cheshire Police Control so that bonfire incidents are 
assessed before referral to NWFC. 
 
A call handling and mobilising procedure was operated on 4th, 5th and 6th of November.  
This consisted of a group of staff whose task it was to receive calls, apply call filtering 
questions and then stack incidents for mobilising by a pod of 3 or 4 staff according to 
local risk and local knowledge. Pod staff were permitted to over-ride resources offered 
by the system and to leave certain calls unattended for a short period if appropriate.  
The mobilising decisions in each pod were the responsibility of an attending Station 
Manager (or higher) from each FRS. 
 
9. Media and Corporate Communications 
 
During the bonfire period, 2 key messages were pushed out on the Service website 
and via social media: 
 

1. To encourage residents to attend an organised bonfire or firework display.  

 

2. To discourage people from starting a bonfire for a ‘laugh’. 

Other safety messages were also included on the website and in the social media 
plan, including messages about firework safety advice, sparkler safety advice, etc. 
There was a compressive list of community bonfire and firework displays on the 
Service website.  This page received 14,397 views. A number of bonfire and firework 
safety videos were also added to the website.  The most popular videos were the 
Fireman Sam videos, which received 4,259 views. 
 
A total of 66 posts were posted to the Service’s Facebook and Twitter accounts during 
the Bonfire period, containing bonfire night and Halloween safety advice.  The 66 
social media posts were all planned prior to the bonfire period, and were set to be 
published on planned dates using the social media management tool, 
CrowdControlHQ.  These posts reached over 1.53 million people on twitter and over 
210,700 people on Facebook.   The most popular post reached 103,124 people on 
Twitter.  Whilst the most popular post on Facebook reached 12,568 people.   
 

Page 84



9 
 

Most popular Tweets, based on reach 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
* Reach is the potential audience size. 

 

Most popular Facebook posts, based on reach 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* Reach is the potential audience size. 
 

Top Tweets  
You can be fined up to £5,000 
for using fireworks illegally. 
More about fireworks and the 
law:  

 
https://www.gov.uk/fireworks-the-law 

 
 
 

Reached 103,124 people 
 

Posted on 30/10/16 

Fireworks bought from unlicensed 
retailers could severely injure or 
kill. 

Safer to attend an organised 
display: 

 
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-

safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-
safety 

 
 

Reached 82,319 people 
 

Posted on 28/10/16 
 

Top Facebook posts  
More organised bonfires and 

fireworks displays in Cheshire tonight. 
Have fun & stay safe! 

 
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-

safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-
safety 

 

 
 

Reached 12,568 people 
 

Posted on 6/11/16 
 

If you see anyone starting a 
deliberate nuisance fire tonight, 

please report it by calling the police 
on 101 or call Crimestoppers 0800 

555111 
 
 

 
 

Reached 10,355 people 
 

Posted on 5/11/16 

 

Page 85

https://www.gov.uk/fireworks-the-law
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-safety
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-safety
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-safety
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-safety
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-safety
http://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/public-safety/campaigns/events/bonfire-and-firework-safety


10 
 

 

Summary of social media posts on Facebook and Twitter 
 

 
 

Most popular social media posts based on reach 
 

Content Published Clicks Reach 
Shares / 
Retweet

s 
Likes 

Total 
Engagements 

You can be fined up to 
£5,000 for using fireworks 
illegally. More about 
fireworks and the law: 
https://t.co/1Ox6aTvCGn  

30/10/2016 
18:46 

147 103,124 26 6 32 

Fireworks bought from 
unlicensed retailers could 
severely injure or kill. Safer 
to attend an organised 
display: 
https://t.co/TloMu7qT9O  

28/10/2016 
13:59 

12 82,319 12 4 16 

List of organised 
bonfire/firework displays 
added to our website. Add 
your event to the list 
https://t.co/c4uGPA5HJK  

21/10/2016 
18:45 

44 65,149 8 5 13 

Page 86



11 
 

Content Published Clicks Reach 
Shares / 
Retweet

s 
Likes 

Total 
Engagements 

Anyone with info about 
arson incidents across the 
county can call 
@CheshirePolice on 101 or 
@CrimestoppersUK, 
anonymously, on 0800 555 
111.  

01/11/2016 
19:21 

0 54,748 13 12 25 

Parents please be super-
safe this Halloween. Keep 
your little ones away from 
candles and open fires 
https://t.co/Yb6TpjheGS  

31/10/2016 
06:45 

10 53,859 21 22 43 

Sparklers get five times 
hotter than cooking oil. 
Don't give sparklers to a 
child under five 
https://t.co/F8wnCrdzBm  

03/11/2016 
06:45 

68 51,725 18 3 22 

Follow Fireman Sam's top 
10 safety tips to make sure 
you have a safe Bonfire 
Night 
https://t.co/O5q3ABuQmb  

23/10/2016 
15:01 

85 47,222 23 11 36 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. Incident Data and Performance Summary  
 
Incidents recorded during the bonfire period 

 
The following graph (Fig. 1) illustrates the overall downward trend of deliberate fires in 
Cheshire over the last 5 years – with 32% fewer incidents of deliberate secondary fires 
attended to 5 years ago:  

 

Page 87



12 
 

Fig. 1 

 
Only 16 secondary deliberate fires were recorded on bonfire night, however a total   
of 41 bonfire related incidents were attended – 25 of these incidents were ‘False 
Alarms Good Intent’.   

 
The following shows activity levels by day and recording type: 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

24
Oct

25
Oct

26
Oct

27
Oct

28
Oct

29
Oct

30
Oct

31
Oct

1
Nov

2
Nov

3
Nov

4
Nov

5
Nov

6
Nov

7
Nov

Activity levels by Day and Type
24th October - 0800 7th November 2016

Secondary Deliberate Secondary Accidental False Aalrm Good Intent

154

76 74 71

105

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Secondary Deliberate Fires
24th October - 0800 7th November

154

76 74 71

105

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Secondary Deliberate Fires
24 October - 0800 7 November

Page 88



13 
 

Using the previous graph and the following graph to compare small deliberate fire 
activity to levels of ASB/Criminal Damage reported to the Police during this same time 
period, they both show similar trajectories throughout with the same peaks noticeable 
on 31/10 (‘Mischief Night’) and 05/11 (Bonfire Night) as to be expected – however 
recorded incident volumes of ASB/Criminal Damage are noticeably higher than 
deliberate fire incidents. 

 
The following two charts also show a comparison of the time and day of when high or 
low activity is occurring for both deliberate fires and ASB/Criminal Damage – again 
apart from differences in incident volumes they show very similar peak times and days. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

ASB & Criminal Damage (C60) Calls by day and type
24 October - 0800 November 2016

ASB Related to Fire/Bonfire ASB Related to Fireworks Other ASB e.g. throwing eggs, stones etc

Hour Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Total

00 0.2% 0.3% 0.1% 0.2% 0.3% 0.4% 0.6% 2.0%

01 0.1% 0.3% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.5% 1.3% 2.5%

02 0.1% 0.2% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.5% 0.5% 1.3%

03 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.4% 0.5% 1.1%

04 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.5%

05 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.3% 0.6%

06 0.0% 0.1% 0.1% 0.0% 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.7%

07 0.3% 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.9%

08 0.4% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.1% 1.5%

09 0.4% 0.7% 0.5% 0.5% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 3.0%

10 0.7% 0.7% 0.4% 0.5% 0.7% 0.3% 0.4% 3.7%

11 0.6% 0.7% 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 0.7% 0.4% 3.8%

12 0.8% 0.4% 0.7% 0.5% 0.5% 0.4% 0.5% 3.7%

13 0.8% 0.5% 0.3% 0.9% 0.4% 0.7% 0.8% 4.2%

14 0.7% 0.3% 0.5% 0.6% 0.5% 0.6% 0.9% 4.0%

15 0.8% 0.7% 0.6% 0.9% 1.0% 0.9% 0.8% 5.6%

16 0.8% 1.0% 1.1% 0.9% 0.9% 1.0% 1.0% 6.6%

17 1.3% 0.8% 1.1% 0.4% 0.7% 1.3% 0.6% 6.2%

18 2.2% 1.3% 0.7% 1.1% 1.1% 1.7% 1.6% 9.7%

19 3.1% 1.4% 1.3% 0.9% 0.9% 2.0% 2.2% 11.8%

20 2.7% 1.2% 0.7% 0.8% 0.9% 1.8% 1.6% 9.8%

21 2.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8% 0.5% 2.0% 1.4% 8.5%

22 1.3% 0.5% 0.3% 0.8% 0.9% 1.1% 0.4% 5.2%

23 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.4% 0.7% 0.9% 0.3% 2.9%

Total 20.0% 12.2% 10.4% 11.1% 11.4% 18.3% 16.5% 100.0%

Hour Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Total

00 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0%

01 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

02 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0%

03 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 1.0%

04 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 1.0%

05 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 1.0%

06 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0%

07 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

08 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0%

09 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

10 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

11 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

12 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 1.0%

13 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

14 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.9% 1.9% 3.8%

15 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9% 3.8%

16 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 2.9%

17 0.0% 2.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 4.8% 8.6%

18 4.8% 1.0% 2.9% 1.9% 1.0% 1.0% 1.9% 14.3%

19 3.8% 3.8% 2.9% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9% 2.9% 16.2%

20 1.9% 6.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9% 4.8% 16.2%

21 2.9% 1.9% 1.0% 2.9% 1.0% 3.8% 3.8% 17.1%

22 1.9% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.9% 1.0% 6.7%

23 0.0% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.9% 0.0% 2.9%

Total 17.1% 20.0% 8.6% 5.7% 1.9% 20.0% 26.7% 100.0%

Deliberate Fire Activity  ASB/Criminal damage 

Page 89



14 
 

Service Delivery Area Performance 

 
Just one of the four local authority areas recorded a year on year decrease in SDF 
during this year’s bonfire period, but all four areas have seen decreases over the last 
5 years. This can be seen as follows (Figs. 2 and 3): 
 
Fig.2  

 

 2016 2015 Change  2012 

Cheshire East 6 6 0  11 

Cheshire West and Chester 55 29 + 26  68 

Halton 24 26 - 2  54 

Warrington 20 13 + 7  21 

 
 
 
Fig. 3 

 
Station Performance 
 
There were only 12 stations which recorded SDF activity during the Bonfire Period, with 4 
of these only reporting 1 incident each. 
 
 
The following table summarises activity by the stations with the highest activity volumes 
during the 2016 reporting period. 

11

68

54

21

46

25

55

41

14 14

6

28

25

12

6

56

24

20

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Cheshire East Cheshire West and Chester Halton Warrington

Activity levels by Unitary 
24th October - 0800 7th November

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Page 90



15 
 

 

 2016 2015 Change  2012 

Winsford 31 5 + 26   37 

Warrington 19 11 + 8   11 

Widnes 17 15 + 2   28 

Chester 11 2 + 9   8 

Ellesmere Port 9 17 - 8   16 

 
These 5 stations accounted for 82% of all small deliberate fire activity recorded during the 
period; the significant increase in activity in Winsford has been acted upon by all partners.  
Police enforcement activity increased immediately, and has continued. Arrests were made 
during the week leading up to bonfire night.  This increase in SDF activity was matched with 
more serious criminal activity in the area, including two deliberate house fires and car fires. 
Youths attempted to throw a petrol bomb at a police car on Mischief Night.  It is significant 
that Runcorn is not included in the top five stations for SDF activity during the bonfire period 
this year.   
 
Chester’s SDF activity increased by 9 incidents, however this was found to be very localised 
activity, and was the result of the efforts of a small number of youths who have been 
identified.   

 

Page 91



16 
 

 
A further report will be produced with Business Intelligence to ensure that local 
considerations are taken into account when planning for the 2017 plan. 
 
11. Recommendations 

 
It is recommended that:  
 
a) The delivery of targeted and timely education to schools in all Service Delivery 

areas should continue to be led by the Service, ahead of other organisations.  
A working group of Lead Advocates and the Station Manager responsible for 
arson reduction will review the education currently offered and implement 
improvements. 

 
b) This educational plan should be incorporated into Service Delivery plans for 

2016/17 and monitored closely to ensure compliance and level of 
engagement, particularly with secondary schools where contact has been 
difficult to date.  

 

Page 92



17 
 

c) Bonfire Strategy Groups should continue to encourage safe organised 
displays to allow people to safely celebrate bonfire night.  Where possible or 
appropriate, these should be supported by the Service and partners. 

 
d) Planning meetings for the relevant Strategy Groups should start no later than 

June 2017. 
 
e) Use of TRVs should be targeted over an appropriate number of evenings and 

the number of vehicles to remain at 4 to cover the known risk areas.  
 
f) Service and partner agency resources and efforts should continue to be 

focused in areas where intelligence suggests that high incident volumes may 
occur.   

 
g) Where possible, partner agencies should be persuaded to continue the free 

removal schemes for the removal of large items, (normally a chargeable 
service), during the preceding month. This should be discussed with partners 
at Bonfire Strategy Group planning meetings. 

 
h) The tolerance policy adopted by the Service this year has proven successful 

and should be continued.  The desire to celebrate bonfire night is present in 
most areas, and residents should be encouraged to do so in a safe manner. 

 
i) Targeted youth activity should be repeated using the On the Streets Team 

and volunteers, based on data provided by the Business Intelligence Unit.  
 
j) The use of our Communications staff to provide live social media updates 

should continue. 
 
k) Consideration should again be given to a local newspaper reporter riding 

appliances in the areas of higher activity.  A TRV would be appropriate.  
 

 
  12. Summary and conclusions 
 
The total number of SDFs attended during the period was higher than in previous 
years, largely due to unprecedented and significant levels of activity in Wharton, 
Winsford (29% of the whole Service’s SDF activity).  Some areas maintained the 
levels recorded in previous years, or showed reductions.   
 

Engagement: Some areas received increased engagement by our staff and other 
agencies.  Consistent, timely and targeted delivery of bonfire and firework 
education was delivered to plan.  The timeliness of this delivery is important to 
its effectiveness. 

 
Fuel removal: Bonfire removal schemes continue to be an effective means of 
reducing the numbers of SDFs.  A visual presence of teams actively removing 
material also discouraged the rebuilding of bonfires. 

 
Incident recording: The tolerant, risk based approach to dealing with incidents 
and recording will have impacted on the number of incidents recorded as SDFs. 

Page 93



18 
 

 
Weather: It has been found that weather conditions experienced over the 
bonfire period will have an impact on incident volumes. For example, we know 
from previous years that rainfall will suppress activity; it can therefore be 
reasonably assumed that the fair weather experienced during the 2016 bonfire 
period will have presented increased opportunities for ASB activity.    

 
Cross Departmental Work: Departments throughout the Service were proactive 
during the run up to and including the bonfire period. Without the efforts of staff 
and partners it is likely that the number of SDFs would have been much greater.   
 
The positive effect of the combined efforts of all involved on the quality 
of life of the residents of Cheshire is difficult to quantify, but is important 
to recognise. 

 
 
 
 

Page 94



Date: 19 April 2017 6 September 2017
Report 

Deadline:
3 April 2017 21 August 2017

Despatch 

Date:
11 April 2017 29 August 2017

Paper: Lead: Paper: Lead

1. Staff Engagement Survey Update AH/SC 1. Q1 Performance Report SG

2.
Environment and Sustainability

Annual Report
AL/MJ 2. Q1 Finance Report Finance

3. Quarterly Reporting (Q1) Internal Audit 

Progress Report 2017-18
CA

4. On the Streets Project - Annual Report NE

5. NW Fire Control Performance Annual 

Report
SW

6. Annual Equality and Diversity Report MM/MH

7. Unwanted Fire Signal Performance 

report
CH

8. Environment and sustainability annual 

update
BW/MJ

Performance and Overview Committee Meetings

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1D Minutes of the Performance and Overview Committee
	Minutes

	2 2016-17 Quarter 3 Review - Financial
	Item 2 -Appendix 1 - Estimated revenue outturn
	Item 2 -Appendix 1a - Detailed estimate of revenue outturn
	Item 2 -Appendix 2 - Expected outturn on the capital programme

	3 2016-17 Quarter 3 Review - Performance
	Item 3 - Appendix 1 - 2016-17 Q3 Scorecard
	Item 3 - Appendix 2 - Performance Summary Report

	4 2016-17 Quarter 3 Review - Integrated Risk Management Plan Programmes and Projects
	Item 4 - Appendix 1 - Performance and Programme Board - Health Report

	5 2016-17 Quarter 3 Internal Audit Progress Report
	Item 5 -Appendix 1 - Internal Audit Progress Report

	6 Annual Bonfire Period Report 2016
	Item 6 -Appendix 1 - Annual Bonfire Period Report 2016

	7 Forward Work Programme



